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Grouping Region Company Nature of business
Contribution to group
revenue 2007

Contribution to group
revenue 2006

Support Services

South Africa

Italy

–  International Tap Distributors 
(Pty) Limited

–  Earlyworks 191 (Pty) Limited

–  Penates Logistics (Pty) Limited

–  Cladding Finance (Pty) Limited

–  Ser Exports s.p.a

–  Import and wholesale taps and accessories

–  Wholesale tiling and accessories

–  Computerised warehousing and distribution

–  Outsourced debtors solutions

–  Procurement specialists

7

Retail

South Africa

Australia

–  Italtile Ceramics Limited

–  Italtile Australia (Pty) Limited

–  Retailers of tiles, taps, glassware and 
accessories

–  Retailers of tiles, taps, glassware and 
accessories

7 7

Franchise

South Africa

Mauritius

–  Italtile Franchising (Pty) Limited

–  Italtile Mauritius Limited

–  Bearer of South African Trademarks

–  Bearer of non-South African trademarks

Property Investment

South Africa

Africa

–  F.B. Ashman (Pty) Limited
(Italtile Property Holdings)

–  Allmuss Properties (Pty) Limited
(CTM Property Limited)

–  Allmuss Botswana (Pty) Limited

–  Allmuss Properties Namibia 
(Pty) Limited

–  Property investments

–  Property investments

–  Property investments

–  Property investments



The Group believes that a productive workplace is characterised by 

an environment in which service, efficiency and harmonious teamwork 

relationships are of primary concern to all.

Living the lifestyle

OUR VALUES

 TO ACHIEVE THIS ALL EMPLOYEES WILL BE:

» Hard working, “hands on” and involved;

» respectful of and act with fairness to all employees,  

 franchisees, customers, suppliers and any other 

 person with whom they may come into contact;

 

» honest, and act with integrity and in good faith;

» focused on customer service;

» partners, and act in a spirit of partnership with 

 fellow employees, suppliers and franchisees.
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Financial highlights
for the year ended 30 June 2007

% change
from 2006 2007 2006

GROUP AND FRANCHISED RESULTS

Turnover (Rm’s)

– by Group-owned stores 15 1 477 1 285

– by franchised-owned stores (unaudited) 14 1 101 968

System-wide turnover (Rm’s) 14 2 578 2 253

Number of stores (3) 95 98

Group results

Turnover (Rm’s) 15 1 477 1 285

Trading profi t (Rm’s) 16 393 338

Total assets (Rm’s) 20 1 345 1 117

Cash and cash equivalents (Rm’s) (25) 258 343

Number of shares in issue (000’s) — 18 677 18 677

Headline earnings per share (cents) 14 1 490 1 312

Normal dividends declared per share (cents) 16 500 430

Net asset value per share (cents) 23 5 386 4 388

Number of employees 19 591 495

u u

u u
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The 2007 financial year has been a trying 

one for the Italtile Group. It has proved 

to be a watershed year in which the 

Company has had to look closely at the 

manner in which it operates and refocus 

on what is required to be the leader in 

our industry. The somewhat pedestrian 

results – particularly when compared 

to the sound returns of the previous 

15 consecutive years – speak for 

themselves. They should have been 

better than those that we have reported, 

not least because of the boom in the 

building industry and the buoyant 

economy prevalent in South Africa. 

Growing in a buoyant environment

Our business has expanded at a rapid 

pace during the first years of the 21st 

century, but in the past year we moved 

at a slower pace than expected of a 

company known as an energetic 

entrepreneurial enterprise. One problem 

is that there have been difficulties in 

achieving the level of vertical integration 

that we had desired. Another is that the 

objective of redefining the shopping 

experience for our customers has 

proved more challenging than we had 

imagined it to be. 

The Company has consistently 

advocated and practised the philosophy 

of owner operation that has run hand in 

hand with an emphasis on allowing store 

operators to show entrepreneurship, flair 

and skilled business acumen. During the 

year under review, problems were 

identified in both the supply side of our 

business as well as with store operators. 

In some cases the attributes of 

entrepreneurship were not as 

enthusiastically embraced as they could 

have been at a number of levels in 

the Company.

During the year, several franchise 

agreements were terminated. The 

positive side of this is that new blood 

was introduced to the Group. Putting the 

right people in the right job is pre-

eminent in this regard, and the changes 

during the past year have enabled us to 

place some new faces in our operation. 

Coupled with this is the continued 

upgrading of our stores and extension of 

our product range. Together, this will 

make a marked difference to our 

overall operation. 

The Group has a sound Strategic Plan 

and there is no doubt that once fully 

implemented there will be tangible 

results.  Regrettably the plan’s 

implementation has not been as swift 

as I would have liked, but it is now 

on track.

Chairman’s statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Our business 

has expanded at 

a rapid pace 

during the first 

years of the 21st 

century
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The Group continues to explore mechanisms to explore 

internal efficiencies

Complete one-stop shopping
Our intention has been to provide the 

complete one-stop shopping 

experience for our clients, ensuring 

that they receive superior service at all 

times, whether they are shopping for 

any of our products, from our 

traditional offerings of tiles and 

bathroomware to more recent 

products such as laminated flooring. 

That we now offer a wider range than 

ever before means that we have to pay 

more attention to detail to ensure that 

all members of our staff are completely 

proficient in their expertise and can 

give the right advice at all times. 

“Second best” is a misnomer in our 

business: only the very best will suffice, 

and we are confronting the challenge 

head-on to ensure that only the very 

best becomes the norm in customer 

service in every CTM and Italtile outlet. 

Excellent customer service, product 

knowledge, fashion, displays, 

immaculate housekeeping, speed of 

service, a wide offering of premium 

product and the availability of such 

products, easily accessible locations 

and ease of parking – the experience 

of all of these add up to a happy, 

contented customer who will return 

again and again. 

During the year, significant attention 

was paid to our supply chain to 

enhance the capacity of its component 

four divisions (ITD, Earlyworks, Penates 

and Elf) to make a really significant 

contribution to profits. Levels in 

reliability in supply must be improved if 

aggressive retail sales targets are to be 

met, and I believe that the ensuing 

financial years will indicate positive 

results following this intervention.

Strong economic growth in South 

Africa, associated with an increase in 

per capita income across the board, 

resulted in a greater demand for 

products available from the Group. It 

was pleasing, on the one hand, to note 

that this was particularly apparent at 

entry level where affordability is a key 

consideration. On the other hand, the 

proliferation of new entrants into the 

market, supported by unsurpassed 

demand for tiles and bathroomware, 

led to price cutting in a market in 

which the number of retail suppliers 

also mushroomed. Add to this the fact 

that the consumer is increasingly well-

informed and discerning in his choice 

of product, and it is clear that the 

importance of product reliability and 

in-store service becomes more 

significant than ever.

Results

The Group increased system-wide 

turnover by 14% to R2,578 billion (2006: 

R2,25 billion) for the year under review. 

The benefits of an ongoing focus 

aimed at containing growth in 

overheads, and maintaining margins 

in a highly competitive market, 

contributed to profit before tax of 

R408 million, an increase of 16% over 

the previous financial year. 

Trading profit rose by 16%, from 

R338 million in 2006, to R393 million 

for the year ended 30 June 2007.

Earnings per share increased to 

1 490 cents for the year, an increase 

of 14% over the previous year (2006: 

1 312 cents).

The Group continues to explore 

mechanisms to explore internal 

efficiencies, which supported the 

increase in operating margins to 

15,2% in the year under review 

(2006: 15%). These included more 

efficient store design, improved 

handling and storage of inventory, and 

further consolidation of the supply 

chain. These initiatives served to 

counter lower margin pressures, which 

would have resulted from a skewing in 

the product mix towards traditionally 

lower margin bathroomware and 

entry-level products.

South Africa

South Africa is the only country in 

which we operate our two brands, 

CTM and Italtile, in tandem. 
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While the Italtile brand progressed in 

increasing the average selling price of 

tiles, at the same time entrenching its 

premium bathware range, it did not 

achieve satisfactory growth. It 

succeeded in moving its appeal to the 

super premium environment targeted at 

the emerging upper class. To this end 

the services of an Italian designer were 

engaged to align the showrooms with 

the superior upmarket brand offering. It 

remains a priority for Italtile to drive this 

transition fully into the upper end of the 

market, and to entrench its position as 

the pre-eminent supplier of tiles and 

bathware. We are on track in 

implementing this long-term 

growth strategy.

During the year, two new CTM stores 

were opened in townships – one on the 

east of Johannesburg, Tembisa, and the 

other on the west, Dobsonville in 

Soweto. Another was opened in 

Phuthaditjhaba in the Free State. The 

opening of these outlets was consistent 

with the Group’s objective to extend its 

retail footprint in traditionally black 

residential areas. It is anticipated that 

they will become important landmarks in 

these huge residential areas, and will no 

doubt set the pace for operations in 

similar places and will give important 

pointers to the way forward.  

Both the Italtile and CTM brands are 

household names in the country and 

have earned enviable reputations, with 

Italtile serving the higher end of the 

market. Our objective is to ensure that 

we continue to build on this reputation. 

We wish to develop our brands in the 

minds of consumers so that we are 

perceived throughout the country as the 

leading one-stop store. 

International and African 

operations

The Australian operation, although still in 

the throes of settling in a market that is 

very different to the one to which we are 

accustomed in South Africa, made a 

small contribution to the Group’s profits. 

Consumer demand softened following a 

less buoyant real estate market in New 

South Wales, with a resultant oversupply 

of inventory in the building industry. 

Steady progress in this market will see a 

consolidation of our performance and, in 

the long term, there should be further 

improvements in performance.

Our sub-Saharan African operation 

consists of 13 CTM outlets in Botswana, 

Lesotho, Namibia, Swaziland, Tanzania, 

Uganda and Kenya. I am satisfied with 

the progress in the Company’s operations 

in these seven African countries, and the 

performance of the store that was 

opened in Mombasa in March 2007 is 

particularly encouraging. We plan to have 

a further store up and running in Nairobi, 

Kenya, in the first part of 2008.

Chairman’s statement continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Both the Italtile 

and CTM brands 

are household 

names in the 

country and 

have earned 

enviable 

reputations
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Black economic empowerment

The Group has finalised a BEE 

transaction to sell 10,7% of the Group’s 

ordinary share capital to a BEE 

consortium which includes Italtile’s 

black staff and franchisees. This is in 

line with its strategy of enterprise 

development and the introduction of 

black-owned franchises. The Group is 

now well-positioned to access 

segments of the market from which 

it was previously excluded. The 

Group has met all its employment 

equity targets.

Subdivision of share capital

The shareholders approved a 

subdivision of each ordinary share 

into 44 ordinary shares. It is anticipated 

that this will enhance the tradability of 

the Italtile Limited share.

Dividend

The Board has declared a final ordinary 

dividend of 270 cents per share (2006: 

290 cents) which, together with the 

interim ordinary dividend of 230 cents 

announced earlier in the financial year 

(2006: 140 cents), produces a total 

ordinary dividend of 500 cents (2006: 

430 cents).

Outlook for the future

Conditions remain buoyant in the 

building industry and this, together 

with our sharpened focus on the entire 

spectrum of our operations, bodes well 

for an improved performance in the 

years ahead. In South Africa in particular, 

with the 2010 World Cup just over two 

years away, the market remains bullish 

as people share in the expectation of 

improved economic conditions. Added 

to this is the sustained improvement in 

the quality of life of people entering the 

housing market for the first time, or 

others who are committed to upgrading 

existing properties. Our products appeal 

to the full spectrum of the market, from 

entry-level buyers to the super premium 

market, from DIY aficionados to SMME 

entrepreneurs in the building industry. 

Our strategy is to continue a careful roll-

out of stores in areas convenient for our 

growing consumer base and to enhance 

the shopping experience in revamped 

stores that set the pace in terms of 

customer comfort, ease of movement in 

the store itself and proficient service.

I confidently expect that the next year 

will show our improvement compared 

to the returns reported in this annual 

report. 

Directorate

No changes occurred in the Board 

during the 2007 financial year. I wish to 

express my thanks to members of the 

Board for their wise counsel during a 

challenging year and for their 

continued service to the Company.

Appreciation

Our Company has a reputation as one 

that encourages entrepreneurship and 

achieves success. It is clear that the 

past year has been one in which our 

performance has been below par, but 

there are clear signs of new growth as 

we refocus and seize fresh 

opportunities. Many have shared in 

reaffirming our vision for the future. It 

is a tribute to them – members of staff, 

suppliers and customers – that they 

have done so, and I wish to thank all 

concerned for their ongoing support.

G A M Ravazzotti

Executive Chairman

Johannesburg

18 September 2007

Quality of life of people
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New Generation; New Energy

In a highly competitive, lucrative and 

changing market, Italtile Limited 

increased revenue by 14%, trading profit 

by 16% and net profit by 15,9% during 

the year under review. These results 

represent a slowdown in growth from 

previous years, and are disappointing in 

the context of the two decades in which 

we turned in 15 consecutive improved 

sets of annual results. The year saw 

promising progress, however, in the 

Australian and African markets. 

The 14% increase in system-wide 

turnover for the Group translated into 

an increase in monetary terms from 

R2,253 billion in the last financial year 

to R2,578 billion for the year ended 

30 June 2007. The modest increase in 

results has been achieved in spite of 

fierce competition, not least as a result 

of an influx of new entrants into the 

tiling market. That the Group has 

delivered steady results, demonstrates 

the soundness of its business models of 

the past. Its staying power, and the 

energy with which the Group meets the 

challenges that new competition 

presents, is built on a successful past in 

which sound foundations were laid. 

There is, however, a renewed challenge 

to rise to the demands that increased 

competition brings in a trading 

environment in which the customer 

displays increasing discernment. 

The Group continued to trade through 

two national brands, CTM and Italtile. The 

CTM brand seeks to position the Group 

firmly within all LSM groups by offering a 

wide product range, quality products at 

accessible prices and by keeping abreast 

of consumer needs and expectations.  

Research has shown that the brands sell 

more of their products to the first-time 

buyer, while retaining the loyalty of those 

clients who have been well served by 

the Group in the past. At the same time, 

both the brands appeal to those 

renovating their properties who prefer to 

purchase high-quality and reliable 

products. Greater demand for tiling and 

bathware, especially at the entry level, 

has resulted from the economic growth 

experienced in South Africa during the 

past financial year. This demand has 

seen a proliferation of new entrants into 

the market that has in turn created a 

price-cutting environment. 

The Group views this environment as 

positive since the consumer is afforded 

Operational review
for the year ended 30 June 2007

The Group 

continued to 

trade through 

two national 

brands, CTM 

and Italtile
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Inventory increased to R224 million from R150 million in 

the previous year due to investment in a broader 

product range

A wide choice of products
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a wide choice of products and places at 

which to shop. Product reliability and in-

store service will gain significance in the 

consumer’s selection of where to 

purchase goods. However, a sharpened 

focus on bathware during the year is 

one of the reasons for the Group 

relinquishing some market share in the 

tile industry, a share which we are 

confident will be regained in the coming 

year. By aligning its supply chain with its 

growth objectives and earnings growth, 

the historical growth trend enjoyed by 

the Group should be visible within the 

next year.

Three new stores opened during the 

past year, one major relocation was 

undertaken and numerous existing 

buildings were renovated. This is one of 

the reasons for the increase in turnover 

that will yield results in the years to 

come as consumers express their 

delight in the new-look stores and the 

continued supply of outstanding, 

superior quality products. 

Results

Although interest rates were increased 

on several occasions during the 2007 

financial year, consumer spend remained 

buoyant as many homeowners shifted 

from purchasing new houses to 

renovating their existing homes. This 

new trend in spending patterns assisted 

the Group to increase turnover, and 

raised trading profit by 16% to 

R408 million (2006: R352 million). 

Turnover from Group-owned stores 

increased by 14,9% to R1,477 billion 

(2006: R1,285 billion), while turnover 

from franchise-owned stores exceeded 

the one billion rand mark for the first 

time, increasing from R968 billion in 2006 

to R1,101 billion in 2007, a growth 

of 13,7%.

The Group’s operating margins increased 

to 15,2% (2006: 15,0%) through 

mechanisms enhancing internal 

efficiencies such as more efficient store 

design, improved handling and storage 

of inventory, and consolidation of the 

supply chain. 

Inventory increased to R224 million from 

R150 million in the previous year due to 

investment in a broader product range 

and through the conversion of franchise 

stores into Group-owned stores. This 

conversion also resulted in an increase 

in the cash generated from operations of 

Three new 

stores opened 

during the past 

year  and 

numerous 

existing 

buildings were 

renovated
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R173 million from R167 million in the 

previous reporting period.

Cash generated from operating 

activities before working capital 

increased by 17,6% to R428 million 

during the year under review (2006: 

R364 million). The bulk of the cash 

generated from operations was used 

for further investments in the property 

portfolio during the year, in line with 

the Group’s strategic intent to invest 

in property in order to deliver 

returns matching the Group’s 

operating activities.

In spite of the growth in revenue and 

profit during the year, performance 

was less than optimal and satisfactory 

from a management point of view, and 

aggressive steps were taken towards 

the end of the financial year to ensure 

a marked improvement in the next 

year. As we closed the year, it became 

clear that a process of fine-tuning our 

strategies and sharpening our focus, 

combined with optimising our product 

range and improving service levels, will 

be required to ensure a significant 

performance improvement during the 

next financial year. 

Superior quality
Operations reviewed

Italtile Limited, with its well-established 

supply chain, nevertheless remains 

well-positioned to continue as the 

supplier of first choice in South Africa. 

This supply chain ensures that 

consumers get the product best suited 

to their needs. Our commitment to 

provide superior customer service in 

store was not always realised during 

the year, with predictable results. 

Knowledgeable staff is a prerequisite in 

a service industry such as ours, and 

our record in previous years underlines 

its value. Such service goes hand-in-

hand with the superior quality product 

that we have on offer, our outstanding 

reputation and the strong financial 

base from which we operate. That we 

have not been able to provide this 

level of service consistently is a matter 

for regret and an issue that is enjoying 

the highest attention. 

The Group currently trades out of 

68 CTM stores in South Africa and a 

further 13 stores in sub-Saharan Africa. 

There are eight retail outlets in 

Australia. The Italtile brand is 

represented by eight stores in South 

Africa located in Gauteng, the Western 

Cape, Durban, Port Elizabeth and 

Nelspruit.

During the year, Italtile Limited 

reaffirmed its marketing strategy to 

resuscitate and to re-energise our 

operations:

•  to provide excellent and world-class 

outlets through our property division;

•  to ensure that our retail operations 

stand alongside the best in the 

world; and

•  to service all channels with a 

smooth and effective supply chain.

Property

The property portfolio continued to 

deliver returns in the year under 

review, in line with trading operations.

Extensive upgrades to current stores 

and relocation of others promises a 

shopping experience of a better 

standard than that ever previously 

experienced in our industry in the 

country. The objective is a one-stop 

store offering a spacious, 

well-organised display of a range of 
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high-quality goods, meeting the needs of 

the consumer with the best service. 

While this objective was achieved in 

many of our stores, further progress is 

required, not least in the area of 

customer service. 

The Group invested heavily in its 

property portfolio during the year, 

constructing new buildings, relocating 

others and upgrading existing sites, 

the benefits of which will be felt in the 

medium to long term. The portfolio 

increased in carrying value by 

R192 million to R688 million for the year. 

Properties are carefully selected 

according to long-standing, proven 

policies and stringent criteria. 

The emphasis in new or renovated 

stores is to create a shopping 

experience in which the customer feels 

at home in big airy spaces, air-

conditioned where necessary, with 

spacious parking and abundant natural 

light creating a comfortable and pleasing 

place to shop, thereby giving consumers 

the freedom to generate their own ideas 

and fulfil their dreams within the context 

of the options offered by the store.

The property boom experienced in South 

Africa over the past few years has 

presented the Group with exciting 

challenges and opportunities for the 

expansion of its property base and 

implementation of its policies. However, 

the costs of acquiring new properties, 

the bureaucratic challenges that 

occasionally accompany the acquisition 

of such properties, and the costs of 

maintaining the properties sometimes 

negate the positives. This is exacerbated 

by delays in obtaining regulatory 

approval for development, coupled with 

the rapid escalation in development and 

land prices. Given the Group’s 

requirements for prime sites and 

superior returns, such factors slowed 

the anticipated store roll-out in the 2007 

financial year.

The Group is committed to investing in 

property for the long term. Its careful 

assessment and analysis of the potential 

of property has always borne fruit and 

continued prudent property investments 

will contribute towards future growth. 

New areas are constantly evaluated for 

future development, with an eye 

constantly open for appropriate 

The Group is 

committed to 

investing in 

property for the 

long term
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Future sustainable growth is reliably expected in the 

coming years

Pleasing place to shop
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properties in areas where the brands will 

reach local markets. 

The roll-out of a new genre of the highly 

successful “New Generation” stores 

continued during the year. Aesthetically 

appealing, the design of the stores 

provides a perfect backdrop to the 

product range on offer. The exterior and 

immediate precinct invite the customer 

inside to an atmosphere at once 

welcoming, hospitable and attractive, 

presenting the enquiring mind with a 

multitude of possibilities in the 

applications to which the products 

lend themselves. 

Italtile Limited has made progress 

towards extending its network into 

residential areas that were traditionally 

black, with new stores opening in 

Tembisa on the East Rand, and 

Phuthaditjhaba in the Free State. Another 

store relocated to Dobsonville in Soweto.

Retail

The Group retained its position as the 

leading tile and bathroomware supplier 

in South Africa through its brands, CTM 

and Italtile. The CTM brand is established 

throughout South Africa, some 

neighbouring states and in Australia, 

while the Italtile brand occurs in South 

Africa only.

The Italtile brand has been migrated into 

the super premium environment 

targeted, amongst others, at the 

emerging upper class, as the pre-

eminent supplier of tiles and 

bathroomware to this market, 

while the CTM brand has positioned 

itself as a specialist supplier, 

strengthening its position as a supplier 

to first-time buyers.

Group plans remain on track to align its 

showrooms to reflect its vision, to 

extend the network of outlets into 

traditionally black areas, improving the 

quality of products in both brands and 

refining service levels in all stores. Future 

sustainable growth is reliably expected 

in the coming years.

The building boom in South Africa has 

not translated into the extent of growth 

that was previously predicted. This

 can be ascribed in part to a lack of 

exposure to government and 

commercial property developments. 

The launch of the “CTM Easy Style” card 

in the first half of the year under review 

provided an enhancement to CTM’s 

The Group has 

formed closer 

ties with 

companies with 

which it has a 

good and close 

working 

relationship
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offering, and has great potential to 

attract a new profile of consumer. 

First-time buyers now have the ability 

to purchase an attractive basket of 

affordable products through extended 

payment terms, thus paving the way 

for better results in the long term. The 

Group does not expect to rely on this 

product as a primary means of 

business since Italtile Limited has 

always primarily operated as a cash-

based retailer. As such, the constraints 

implicit in the new National Credit Act 

are of little, if any, bearing.

Italtile continues to source high-quality 

tiles and bathware from South Africa 

and internationally. Its significant 

buying power allows it to provide 

competitive pricing in spite of an 

environment in which the demand for 

tiles and bathroomware has resulted in 

new entrants to the market with the 

inevitable price wars that accompany 

such proliferation of trade.  The 

consumer is offered an attractive 

product selection sourced both in 

South Africa and in countries abroad, 

such as Italy, Spain, Brazil, China, 

Turkey, India and Australia.

Competitive pricing
Our commitment remains that of 

offering a full solution to customers. 

The need to enhance our service levels 

has resulted in an intense training 

initiative to ensure that not only do we 

regain the high levels of service for 

which we have always been 

recognised, but that this climbs to 

levels of excellence previously 

unparalleled in our industry.  

Supply chain

Instead of increasing its supply chain in 

the year under review, Italtile Limited 

has focused on consolidating its 

operation and ensuring efficiencies by 

seeking ever more streamlined 

mechanisms to enhance internal 

effectiveness, better handling of stock, 

and management. In so doing, it 

underlined its determination to serve 

the market.

Consequently, the Group has formed 

closer ties with companies with which 

it has a good and close working 

relationship. The consumer has 

benefited from this in the smooth and 

ready supply of good-quality products 

from South Africa and internationally at 

highly competitive prices. This was 

further enhanced by one of our South 

African suppliers increasing its number 

of kilns, thereby escalating the number 

and range of tiles it is able to supply 

and improving the integrity of its 

products. Our extensive experience 

means that we are able to identify 

products that are well suited to the 

markets it serves, and to do so at 

keenly competitive prices with 

appropriate warranties where 

applicable. In addition, the wide 

network of business contacts 

established over some 50 years 

enables us to source many products 

that no other retailer in South Africa 

can provide.

Laminated flooring is viewed as a 

product that will grow in its appeal to 

the market and contribute towards 

turnover. High-quality flooring is 

provided at prices lower than our 

competitors. The range has extended 

our range at the bottom end of the 

market without compromising in any 

way on quality.  Product is sourced 

from Germany, China and South Africa.

Bathroomware, such as taps and other 

accessories that are available from the 

two brands, are durable, functional and 
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highly fashionable. These high-quality 

and exclusive accessories are obtained 

in South Africa and internationally. 

A distribution centre in Durban provides 

effective support for the supply chain. All 

products arriving in South Africa from 

overseas countries pass through this 

hub. 

Clearly the year under review was one 

of enhancing our supply chain and 

distribution, and we are confident of an 

improvement in results following the 

strengthening of our supply chain. We 

will renew our focus on our major 

product category, which is tiles, while 

consolidating the gains made in 

bathware. We will continue to establish 

optimal alignment of our integrated 

supply chain with our growth objectives 

to ensure that our suppliers deliver the 

best possible products and the widest 

range of goods to meet the needs of our 

clients. Efficient management of product 

within the supply chain, despite rapid 

growth, is essential.

Franchising

Italtile Limited meticulously selects 

franchisees who have a proven track 

record in the business as well as those 

who will identify with our core values 

and modus operandi. Italtile subscribes 

to the policy that only those best suited 

for the job can add value to its 

performance. This includes a 

commitment by franchisees to the 

Group’s long-standing policy of dynamic 

entrepreneurship, a practice expected of 

all within the organisation. Each business 

unit must adopt a small business 

approach, fine-tuned to its particular 

market needs, to ensure optimal growth 

and returns. 

During the year, several franchise outlets 

have been temporarily converted into 

Group-owned stores. The emphasis is on 

maintaining and building on the 

fundamental elements at the core of our 

success: a reputation for service 

excellence and premium product. 

All franchisees need to have a complete 

understanding of all aspects of the 

business, from an in-depth knowledge of 

the communities in which they operate 

to providing sustained service excellence 

to their customers.

African and international operations

Italtile regards the markets it serves in 

sub-Saharan Africa as an extension of 

During the year, 

several franchise 

outlets have 

been 

temporarily 

converted into 

Group-owned 

stores
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the South African market. The direct 

involvement in what were previously 

franchised businesses will ensure 

greater access to resources and 

additional levels of regional 

co-operation.

The Company’s Australian operation, 

with its eight retail outlets in 

Queensland and New South Wales, 

made a small contribution to Group 

profits. Following weaker buoyancy 

than anticipated in the real estate 

market in New South Wales, consumer 

demand softened. This resulted in the 

market becoming oversupplied and 

weakening retail prices. A nominal 

contribution to Group profits is 

anticipated going forward.

Energising our future

The Italtile Group is focused on the 

future and firmly committed to the 

principles of growth which have 

established it as the leading South 

African retailer of local and imported 

sanitaryware, ceramic tiles, bathroom 

accessories and laminated flooring. 

Our reputation for sound governance 

is well known and respected in the 

investor community. As has already 

Enthusiasm for growth
been indicated, several initiatives are 

being implemented to ensure that the 

business is re-energised and that there 

is a return to the past pattern of 

growth. Part of this refocus is the 

understanding that for growth to be 

sustained, operations must change in a 

dynamic manner as the market 

evolves. This includes an 

understanding and acceptance by 

management on the ground that local 

conditions often dictate unique 

approaches. The Group has 

consistently encouraged such an 

approach as part of its entrepreneurial 

mantra, and with new management 

appointments in many of the Group’s 

outlets, there is no doubt that the 

enthusiasm for growth that is implicit 

in such a philosophy will bear fruit. This 

is consistent with its people-centred 

philosophy, one that has stood the 

Group in good stead for many years.

Prospects

Given the change in and upgrading of 

our existing footprint, the continued 

enhancement of the shopping 

experience for the consumer, the 

introduction of an ever-broadening 

product range, the emphasis on 

securing suitable sites which meet our 

investment and retail criteria, and the 

rolling out of our strategy to enhance 

our retail store network and meet 

changes in consumer behaviour and 

needs, the future bodes well.

Our focus in the year ahead will be on 

consolidating the benefits of the 

broader product range, introducing 

further operational efficiencies and 

enhancing the general shopping 

experience for our customers. We are 

confident that the market will remain 

buoyant as the quality of life and 

standard of living continues to improve 

for countless numbers of South 

Africans who desire gracious homes 

decorated with the classic styles that 

our brands provide. 

Interest rates are at risk of increasing 

at least once more during the coming 

year, but the demand for housing will 

not ease, and neither will the need for 

improvements to existing properties 

dwindle. Simply stated, those not 

buying new homes will renovate. In 

any event, the Group’s activities are 

geared to benefit in both rising and 

decreasing interest rate environments. 
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Competition in the industry will not halt 

and price wars will continue. Italtile is 

confident, however, that it will stay 

“ahead of the pack”, providing service 

far superior than that on offer elsewhere. 

The needs of our clients will be met 

using the best model, the best brands, 

the best products and the best 

supply chain.

Consequently, we remain confident that 

the Group will exceed the current level 

of earnings growth in the coming 

financial year – not least due to our 

initiatives to enhance sales growth, to 

contain costs and to focus on the 

buoyant market conditions which we 

expect to prevail.

Appreciation

The Italtile Group is a dynamic 

organisation, and we have been 

privileged to have been associated with 

countless numbers of customers, 

suppliers and members of staff who 

dynamically reflect our vision. Long-

standing customers return again and 

again to relive their Italtile or CTM 

experience, while new ones fulfil their 

dream of enhancing the quality and 

value of their properties by shopping at 

our outlets. That in itself is testament to 

a commitment by suppliers and staff, 

one which needs to be reinforced to 

ensure that such experiences are 

cemented in the future. To them all we 

offer grateful thanks.

G P E Ravazzotti

Chief Executive Officer

Johannesburg

18 September 2007

Long-standing 

customers 

return again and 

again to relive 

their Italtile or 

CTM experience



I t a l t i l e  L imi ted  Annua l  Repor t  2007

17

(All amounts in Rm’s)

Seven-year

compound

growth % 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003* 2002* 2001* 2000*

OPERATIONS

Turnover 20 1 477 1 285 1 032 800 749 620 455 423

Trading profit 29 393 338 274 214 166 129 82 65

Profit before taxation 29 408 352 285 222 174 133 85 70

Profit attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 28 270 233 191 151 118 95 59 49

Headline earnings 28 270 237 190 151 122 95 58 47

Dividends paid 38 95 114 60 26 21 18 11 10

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets 772 550 446 330 265 257 209 170

Current assets 573 567 520 425 327 301 177 116

Equity attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 944 764 634 500 389 326 234 179

Non-current liabilities 12 11 12 9 10 12 7 5

Current liabilities 357 312 291 232 182 212 139 100

CASH FLOW

Cash flows from operating 
activities 168 167 205 155 126 98 49 66

Cash flows utilised in investing 
activities (255) (121) (137) (88) (67) (59) (45) (55)

Cash flows from/(utilised by) 
financing activities 2 (4) 10 (2) 7 7 10 1

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of year 258 343 301 223 158 92 46 32

* Historical ratios relating to 1998 to 2003 were not restated to reflect subsequent changes in accounting policies (IFRS adjustments).

Group review
for the year ended 30 June 2007

17-19-group review.indd   17 9/25/07   4:43:50 PM



I t a l t i l e  L imi ted  Annua l  Repor t  2007

18

Group review continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

(All amounts in Rm’s)

Seven-year

compound

growth % 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003* 2002* 2001* 2000*

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Returns

Trading profit to turnover (%) 8 26,6 26,3 26,5 26,7 22,1 20,9 18,1 15,3

Return on shareholders’ 
interest (%)(1) 31,6 33,3 33,7 34,0 33,0 33,9 28,6 30,8

Average consumer price 
index (%)+ 7,0 4,9 2,6 4,8 9,6 10,6 6,9 7,0

Earnings per share (cents) 28 1 489,7 1 290,1 1 072,8 854,6 668,1 518,3 320,1 269,5

Headline earnings per share 
(cents) 29 1 489,7 1 312,3 1 069,2 856,3 691,4 518,3 317,0 254,8

Dividends declared per share 
(cents) 37 500 430 270 160 130 100 60 54

Special dividend per share 
(cents) 330 140

Productivity

Turnover per employee 
(R000’s) 9 2 499 2 596 2 572 2  122 2 171 1 797 1 441 1 346

Total assets per employee 
(R000’s) 14 2 276 2 257 2 394 2 003 1 718 1 617 1 222 912

Trading profit per employee 
(R000’s) 18 665 683 681 566 479 375 261 206

Turnover growth (%) 14,9 24,5 29,6 6,8 20,9 36,1 7,8 23,2

Number of employees 591 495 403 377 345 345 316 314

Number of stores 97 98 101 97 94 91 78 67

– Owned and joint ventures 45 42 42 36 33 35 34 34

– Franchised 52 56 59 61 61 56 44 33

Solvency and liquidity

Interest cover (times)(2) 196,5 112,7 219,8 144,2 96,1 71,8 1 176,5 —

Dividend cover (times)(3) 3,0 3,1 4,0 5,4 5,3 5,1 5,3 4,9

Gearing ratio (%)(4) 1,2 1,3 1,5 1,6 2,4 3,2 1,8 —

Current ratio (times)(5) 1,6 1,8 1,8 1,8 1,8 1,4 1,2 1,2

Acid test ratio (times)(6) 1,0 1,3 1,3 1,3 1,3 0,8 0,6 0,5

Definitions
(1)  Return on shareholders’ interest: Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent as a percentage of average equity 

attributable to equity holders of the parent.
(2)  Interest cover: Trading profit divided by interest paid.
(3)  Dividend cover: Headline earnings divided by dividends declared (excluding special dividends).
(4)  Gearing ratio: Interest-bearing debt as a percentage of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.
(5)  Current ratio: Current assets divided by current liabilities.
(6)  Acid test ratio: Current assets, less inventory, divided by current liabilities.

* Historical ratios relating to 1998 to 2003 were not restated to reflect subsequent changes in accounting policies (IFRS adjustments).

+As per Statistics South Africa.

17-19-group review.indd   18 9/25/07   4:43:51 PM
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(All amounts in Rm’s)

Seven-year

compound

growth % 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003* 2002* 2001* 2000*

Financial ratios (continued)

Stock exchange 
performance

Market capitalisation+ (Rm’s) 34 5 147 3 391 2 364 1 368 1 179 842 678 659

Closing share price at 
year-end (cents) 34 28 400 18 790 13 300 7 750 6 700 4 600 3 700 3 600

Market value per share

– High (cents) 32 000 20 900 14 000 7 870 6 700 4 700 4 000 3 700

– Low (cents) 18 200 13 300 7 627 5 120 4 600 3 500 3 300 2 150

Closing share price to net 
asset value per share 5,27 4,28 3,57 2,66 2,86 2,51 2,81 3,64

Price earnings ratio (times) 19,06 14,57 12,40 9,07 10,0 8,9 11,6 13,6

Dividend yield (%) 1,8 2,3 2,6 2,1 1,9 2,2 1,6 1,5

Earnings yield (%) 5,2 6,9 8,1 11,0 10,0 11,3 8,7 7,5

Number of shares in 
issue (000’s) (excluding treasury 
shares) 18 121 18 095 17 771 17 646 17 604 18 311 18 311 18 311

Volume of shares traded (000’s) 835 520 707 398 242 590 464 501

Value of shares traded (R000’s) 190 352 94 921 77 466 27 570 13 671 23 462 16 772 13 262

Volume of shares 
traded as a % of total 
issued shares 4,6 2,9 3,9 2,3 1,3 3,2 2,5 2,7

+Excluding treasury shares.

* Historical ratios relating to 1998 to 2003 were not restated to reflect subsequent changes in accounting policies (IFRS adjustments).
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APPLICATION OF GOVERNANCE CODES

The directors of Italtile fully endorse the spirit of 

transparency, integrity and accountability as advocated 

in the King Committee report on corporate governance.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Italtile Limited and its subsidiaries have unitary board 

structure, comprising three executive directors and 

three non-executive directors. The Board meets 

regularly and maintains full and effective control in 

directing the Group towards achieving its vision.

In terms of its charter, the Board is ultimately 

accountable for the formulation and execution of 

strategies to meet the Group’s objectives, operational 

performance, financial results of the Group’s risk 

management, financial controls and director selection 

and evaluation.

The Board works to a formal agenda covering areas of 

operational performance, strategy and growth initiatives. 

Board papers are circulated prior to every meeting. 

A clear division of responsibilities exists which 

maintains a balance of power and authority.

The Board has also delegated certain specific 

responsibilities to Board subcommittees, which are 

detailed more fully below.

The Board as a whole is responsible for the selection 

and appointment of non-executive directors in 

accordance with the criteria set out in the Board 

charter. Selection will be voted on after the Board 

collectively or individually has conducted a formal 

interview with the candidate.

Membership of the Italtile Board is set out on page 24. 

The directors bring together a wealth of experience 

and expertise from varying fields to ensure the 

Group retains proper direction and control over its 

business activities.

One-third of the Board retires by rotation each year. If 

requested to serve a further term by the Board, those 

retiring directors can offer themselves for re-election by 

the shareholders. In addition, any director appointed 

during the year must retire at the annual general 

meeting held immediately after his appointment.

OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets each quarter and on an ad hoc basis 

should the need arise. Details of the attendance at 

Board meetings are set out in the table below:

Board meetings

27 July 2006 30 October 2006 4 February 2007 4 May 2007

G A M Ravazzotti ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

P D Swatton ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

G P E Ravazzotti ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

J Couzis ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

S I Gama ✓ ✓ ✓ —

D H Rabin ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

✓ = Present
– = Not present

Corporate governance



I t a l t i l e  L imi ted  Annua l  Repor t  2007

21

Directors have unrestricted access to the Company 

Secretary, executive management and, at the expense 

of the Company, outside counsel in the execution of 

their duties and responsibilities.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Details of individual directors’ remuneration are found 

on page 29. The remuneration committee ensures the 

provision of executive remuneration packages and 

director’s fees that are competitive in relation to that of 

other South African retail companies.

No service contract exists between the Company and 

any of its directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES 

Audit committee

The membership of the Group’s audit committee is set out 

on page 24. The committee operates within written terms 

of reference confirmed by the Board, which include:

● compliance with applicable legislation;

●  matters relating to the maintenance of adequate 

books and records, internal controls, accounting 

policies and financial reporting and disclosure;

●  approval of the scope of the external audit, review of 

audit reports and fees; and

● compliance with the code of corporate governance.

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the 

audit committee.

The audit committee has adopted guidelines as to the 

extent of fees paid for non-audit services provided by 

the external auditors, so that these fees do not become 

so significant as to call into question the external 

auditor’s independence of Italtile. The audit committee 

met four times during the year.

Attendance at these meeting was:

Ordinary meetings

27 July
2006

16 September
2006

2 February
2007

18 May
2007

J Couzis ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

S I Gama ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

P D Swatton* ✓ — ✓ ✓

✓ = Present
* = By invitation

The audit committee, which provides regular reports on 

its activities to the Board, confirms that it has adhered 

to its terms of reference over the past financial year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee’s membership is set out 

on page 24. The committee operates within written 

terms of reference confirmed by the Board, which 

include:

●  the Group’s remuneration policy; and

●  short-term and long-term incentive policies for 

directors, executive management and staff.

The remuneration committee met once during the year. 

Attendance at this meeting was:

September 2006

D H Rabin ✓

G A M Ravazzotti ✓

CODE OF ETHICS

Italtile has documented a formal code of ethics. The 

Group, through a system of values and standards, is 

committed to the promotion of ethical behaviour and 

the compliance with laws and regulations towards 

being a good corporate citizen.
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The Board plays an oversight role in ensuring that 

management throughout the organisation assumes 

responsibility for training, mentoring staff on the 

Group’s values and standards and, where appropriate, 

ensuring compliance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for risk management. It 

regularly assesses the financial and non-financial risks 

in the context of the Group’s business environment 

with a view to their mitigation or elimination through 

the Group’s strategies and processes.

The Group’s most significant areas of risk are:

● Currency risk

   The foreign currency exposures on imported product 

is actively managed. All foreign liabilities are matched 

with forward exchange contracts, upon confirmation 

of import orders.

● Computer-based business processes

   All Italtile’s major business processes are computer-

based. Italtile has a formally documented and tested 

disaster recovery plan.

● Credit risk

   Trade credit is available through the Italtile division. 

Strict credit granting criteria are in place and the 

trade debtors book is insured through a reputable 

insurance company.

Italtile operates within an established framework of 

values designed to create an environment where 

decentralised autonomy is coupled with accountability 

for operational and financial objectives matched with 

centralised leadership.

The Board believes that an adequate system of internal 

control is in place, which mitigates identified areas of 

significant risk, to an acceptable level.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Italtile is committed to the principle of transparency 

in its dealings with key stakeholders. A working 

partnership between the Group, its suppliers, 

franchisees, employees and members of the 

community forms the basis of a mutually beneficial 

association.

The annual report deals adequately with disclosures 

pertaining to financial statements, auditor’s 

responsibility, accountability, accounting records, 

internal control, risk management, accounting policies, 

adherence to accounting standards, going-concern 

issues and adherence to codes of conduct.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Italtile is keenly aware of its responsibility to the 

broader society in which it operates. A sustainable 

business is only built upon foundation of partnership 

that enriches society as a whole.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

Occupational health and safety remains a priority 

with compliance reviewed on a quarterly basis 

by an independent third party. No serious accidents 

were reported throughout the Group during 

the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The nature of our business is such that it has little 

negative impact on its environment. We generate no 

effluent or noise pollution.

In the construction of its stores, Italtile takes great care 

in harmonising each building with its surroundings in 

order to provide staff, customers and community a  

pleasing, safe and clean environment. As far as possible 

we provide facilities to prevent vehicle congestion in 

the neighbourhoods in which we are situated.

Corporate governance continued
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HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT

As indicated by the Group’s financial results, Italtile has 

continued its trend of rapid financial growth. This in 

itself presents challenges to the organisational 

leadership and places great demands on staff.

As a consequence, the following have been identified 

as the Group’s key strategic themes:

●  To match the demographics of the organisation with 

the diverse markets in which we trade, a 

representative task team drives the Group’s 

employment equity plan and ensures stated 

milestones are being met.

●  Worker participation – Italtile employs a number of 

participating mechanisms within the organisation, 

whereby relevant financial information is shared and 

participation in operational decision-making is 

encouraged. The Group has implemented a profit 

incentive scheme in which all members of staff share 

in trading profits generated.

●  To develop the level of entrepreneurship within the 

Group, it is a stated objective to have all trading 

operations either in an outright franchise or in a 

partnership within Italtile.

●  To continuously enhance the delivery and 

effectiveness of training in order to improve the 

foundation of skills within the organisation.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Italtile continues to invest, across all nine provinces in 

South Africa and neighbouring countries, in education, 

training and skills transfer through the Italtile training 

academy which has provided tiling, technical and 

business skills to many previously unemployed 

individuals.

Italtile has made significant donations to children’s aids 

hospices and environmental organisations.
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DIRECTORS

Giovanni Ravazzotti (64)

Chairman

Founder, in 1969, of the Italtile Group and Chairman of 

Ceramic Industries Limited.

Gian-Paolo Ravazzotti (36)

Chief Executive Officer 

Appointed to the Board in October 2004.

Gian-Paolo was appointed Chief Executive Officer 

in 2006.

Peter Swatton (49) – British

BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

Chief Financial Officer

Joined the Company 1988. Appointed to the Board 

in 1992.

Peter was appointed Chief Financial Officer in 

February 1992. 

He has had 19 years’ service with Italtile during which 

time he was Chief Executive Officer for two and a half 

years.

John Couzis (54) – Greek

Non-executive Director

Appointed to the Board 1988.

John retired as Chief Executive Officer of Italtile in 2001, 

a position he held since 1992, to become a non-

executive director. John has had 24 years’ experience in 

the ceramic tile industry and previously held various 

positions in the IT field.

Siyabonga Gama (40)

BCom (Hons), AEP, CAIB(SA)

Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed to the Board 2004.

Siyabonga was the Chief Executive Officer of the 

National Ports Authority of South Africa, the Chairman 

of the Port Management Association of Eastern and 

Southern Africa and serves on the Board of the 

International Association of Ports and Harbours. During 

2005 he was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of 

Spoornet.

Derek Rabin (57)

Dip Law

Non-executive Director

Appointed to the Board in 1990 and appointed as 

Chairman in December 2004. Relinquished role of 

Chairman effective 1 July 2006.

Admitted as an attorney of the High Courts of the 

Republic of South Africa and Lesotho, Derek has held 

directorships in several companies and served as 

Chairman of Honeywell Southern Africa (Pty) Limited for 

many years. He was previously a partner at Godfrey 

Rabin and Partners Attorneys, Werksmans and a 

founding partner of Rabin, Van den Berg and 

Pelkowitz whose corporate advisory business was 

sold to Brait S.A. in 2000. Derek served on the main 

Board of Brait and as Chairman of Brait’s advisory 

division until the formation of Derek H Rabin & 

Associates in July 2003.

GROUP AUDIT COMMITTEE

S I Gama

(Chairman)

J Couzis

P D Swatton*

*By invitation

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

D H Rabin (Chairman)

G A M Ravazzotti

DIVISIONAL MANAGEMENT

Pierre Langenhoven (38)

Chief Operating Officer (Australia)

Wouter van der Merwe (39)

NDip (Property Development and Housing Management)

Manager – Property division

Directorate and administration
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Directors’ approval

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements of the Company and 

the Group set out in pages 27 to 65 were approved by 

the Board of Directors on 18 September 2007 and 

signed on its behalf by:

G A M Ravazzotti

Chairman

P D Swatton

Chief Financial Officer

COMPANY SECRETARY’S APPROVAL

In terms of the Companies Act 1973, I certify that the 

Company has lodged, with the Registrar of Companies, 

all such returns as are required of a public company in 

terms of the Act, and that all such returns are true, 

correct and up to date.

Routledge Modise attorneys

Company Secretary

18 September 2007

The directors are responsible for both the preparation 

and integrity of the financial statements and related 

financial information contained in the annual report. In 

their opinion, the financial statements fairly represent 

the Group’s financial position and results of operations. 

It is the responsibility of the independent auditors to 

report on the financial statements. Their report to the 

members of the Company is set out on page 26.

In order for the directors to discharge their 

responsibility, the Group maintains adequate 

accounting systems, risk control procedures and 

accounting records. A system of internal control, 

focused on critical risk areas and designed to provide 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, and 

that the risk of error, fraud or loss is reduced in a cost-

effective manner, has been implemented. All controls 

are frequently monitored and subject to review and 

audit. There was no material breakdown in the system 

of internal control during the year under review.

The Group adopts appropriate accounting policies and 

the annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. The financial statements incorporate full 

and meaningful disclosure, and have been prepared 

using reasonable and proven judgements and 

estimates.

GOING CONCERN

The directors are of the opinion that the business will 

continue as a going concern in the year ahead. The 

annual financial statements have accordingly been 

prepared on a going-concern basis.

CODE OF ETHICS

The directors have complied with the Group’s code 

of ethics.
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Independent auditors report to the members of Italtile Limited

the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as of 30 June 2007, and of the financial 

performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa.

Ernst & Young Inc.

Registered Auditor

Johannesburg

18 September 2007

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the annual financial statements of 

Italtile Limited, which comprise the directors’ report, the 

balance sheet as at 30 June 2007, the income 

statement, the statement of changes in equity and cash 

flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes, as set out on pages 27 to 62.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial 

statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility 

includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 

in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
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NATURE OF BUSINESS

Italtile Limited is the leading supplier of ceramic tiles and 
related products through its destination one-stop 
branded outlets, Italtile and CTM. They provide superior 
ceramic tile flooring and walling, at keenly competitive 
prices to a growing market. As brands that offer optimal 
choice for the discerning consumer they also stock 
ancillary products specially selected to complement the 
traditional offering of their business, including 
bathroomware and sanitaryware, bathroom furniture, 
taps, fittings, laminated flooring and tools. Their products 
are available through a wide network of stores in South 
Africa, countries in the Southern African Development 
Economic Region (Sadec), and the east coast of Australia.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

System-wide turnover

Turnover from the CTM and Italtile system-wide stores 
rose 14% to R2,57 billion (2006: R2,25 billion). The 
increase reflects sustained consumer confidence, 
despite increases in interest rates, as homeowners 
continue to renovate and upgrade their properties. 
General market conditions remain buoyant. 

Profi t and trading operations

Profit from trading operations rose 16% to R393 million 
(2006: R338 million) for the year under review. The 
increase in profitability reflects the ongoing focus of 
containing growth in overheads and maintaining 
margins in a highly competitive trading environment.

Property, plant and equipment

Investment in the Group’s property portfolio continued 
unabated, increasing in carrying capacity by R187 million 
to R688 million (2006: R501 million). This was mainly the 
result of the construction of new buildings and upgrades 
to existing sites, the benefits of which will be felt in the 
short to medium term. There has been no change in the 
use of property, plant and equipment during the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash from operations and working capital management 
have resulted in cash and cash equivalents of 
R258 million (2006: R343 million). Cash resources built 
up in previous years have historically been used, after 
payment of the dividend, to fund operations, store 
refurbishments and store relocations. This policy will 
continue into the future. 

Long-term liabilities

The Group’s only exposure to interest-bearing debt is 
the loan finance utilised in the acquisition of fixed 
property in Australia.

Black economic empowerment

The Company finalised a BEE transaction to sell 
10,7% of the Group’s ordinary share capital to a BEE 
consortium, which includes Italtile’s black staff. 
Implementation of the BEE transaction is subject to 
section 38 (2A) of the Companies Act coming into effect.

Subdivision of Italtile Limited’s share capital

A special resolution was approved by the requisite 
majority on 12 July 2007 to give effect to a 44:1 
subdivision of Italtile’s share capital to enhance the 
tradability of the shares in issue. At the date of this 
report, the special resolution had not yet been 
registered by the Registrar of Companies. The share-
related information in this report makes reference to 
the actual numbers of shares in issue prior to the 
approved subdivision of shares.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The details of the directors of the Company are set out 
on page 24.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, Messrs P D Swatton and 
D H Rabin retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

Except for the share option scheme, detailed below, 
the Company was not party to any arrangement 
during the year or at year-end, which would enable 
the directors or officers, or their families, to 
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares 
in the Company.

Other than disclosed in note 29, none of the directors or 
officers of the Company had any interest in any contracts, 
which significantly affected the affairs or business of the 
Company or its subsidiaries, during the year.

It is Company policy that all directors and employees 
who have access to price-sensitive information may 
not deal directly or indirectly in the shares of the 
Company from the end of a reporting period until 
publication of the interim results or profit 
announcement.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING

The directors’ beneficial and non-beneficial interest in 
the stated share capital of the Company at the balance 
sheet date is set out in the table below. There has been 
a change of interests between 30 June 2007 and the 
date of this annual report.

Directors’ report

At 30 June 2007

Director Direct

Benefi cial

Indirect Total % held Direct

Non-

benefi cial

Indirect Total % Held

G A M Ravazzotti

P D Swatton

G P E Ravazzotti

J Couzis

D H Rabin

S I Gama

277 778

293 100

74 000

210 000

60 000

—

10 969 344

—

—

300 000

—

—

11 247 122

293 100

74 000

510 000

60 000

—

60,2

1,6

0,4

2,7

0,3

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
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At 30 June 2006
Director Direct

Benefi cial
Indirect Total % held Direct

Non-
benefi cial

Indirect Total % held

G A M Ravazzotti
P D Swatton
G P E Ravazzotti 
J Couzis
D H Rabin

277 778
293 100

29 000
210 000

60 000

10 969 344
—
—

300 000
—

11 247 122
293 100

29 000
510 000

60 000

60,2
1,6
0,2
2,7
0,3

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

On 21 August 2006, G P E Ravazzotti’s shareholding increased by 45 000 shares after he exercised and paid for 45 000 
share options.

DIRECTORS’ PARTICIPATION IN THE ITALTILE SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Directors’ holdings under deferred sale agreements are set out in the table below.

Director

Options
held at

1 July 2006

Options
awarded

during the
year

Strike
price

Strike
date

Options
exercised

during the
year

Exercise
price

Options
held at

30 June 2007

G A M Ravazzotti — — — — — — —

P D Swatton — — — — — — —

J Couzis — — — — — — —

D H Rabin — — — — — — —

S I Gama 30 000 — 10 500 01/11/2009 — — 30 000

G P E Ravazzotti 45 000 — 4 400 21/08/2006 45 000 4 400 —

60 000 — 8 000 04/03/2009 — — 60 000

Directors’ report continued

STATED CAPITAL

The authorised and issued share capital remains 
unchanged at 75 000 000 shares of no par value and 

18 677 283 shares of no par value respectively.

DIVIDENDS

A final dividend No 81 of 270 cents per share (2006: 
290 cents per share) for the year ended 30 June 2007 
was declared by the Board of Directors. Together with 
the interim dividend No 80 of 230 cents per share (2006:
140 cents per share) this amounts to a total ordinary 
dividend of 500 cents per share (2006: 430 cents per 
share), a 16% increase.

Italtile remains a strong cash generator. Management is 
satisfied that current cash resources coupled with 
projected net cash inflows are in excess of operating 
requirements and planned capital expenditure.

The dividend cover will remain at 3 times.

The salient dates for the final dividend are:

The last day to trade “cum” 
dividend Friday, 31 August 2007

First day to trade “ex” 
dividend Monday, 3 September 2007

Record date Friday, 7 September 2007

Dividend payment date Monday, 10 September 2007

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

The following special resolutions were passed by 
shareholders on 12 July 2007 and as at the date of this 
annual report have been submitted to the Registrar of 
Companies for registration.

●  That the Company alter its authorised and issued 
share capital by subdividing every share of no par 
value in the Company’s authorised and issued share 
capital into 44 ordinary shares of no par value.

●  That the Articles of Association of the Company be 
substituted with new Articles of Association.

●  To authorise the Company to subscribe for 
preference shares in order to provide financial 
assistance for the acquisition by the BEE companies 
of shares in the Company pursuant to the 
BEE transaction.

●  To approve the entering into of a specific repurchase 
by the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE 
SHEET DATE

No events took place between the balance sheet date 
and the date of this report that would have a material 
effect on the financial statements as disclosed.
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THE ITALTILE SHARE INCENTIVE TRUST

In terms of a resolution passed at a shareholders’ 
meeting on 12 January 1993, the directors are 
authorised to make available for the purposes of the 
scheme a maximum aggregate number of 2 801 000 
ordinary shares (2005: 2 801 000), representing 15% of 
the issued share capital at that time. The scheme exists 
for the directors and senior management of the 
Company with a limit of 350 000 shares which any one 
participant may acquire.

The movements in the number of shares available to 
eligible participants are as follows:

2007

Number of

shares

2006

Number of

shares

At 1 July

New allocations made

Redeemed allocations

Forfeited allocations

293 000

—

(62 000)

(20 000)

803 000

—

(375 000

(135 000

)

)

Outstanding at 30 June 211 000 293 000

R R

Average subscription 

price per share 87,31 79,37

The allocation outstanding at 30 June 2007 will mature 
up to 1 November 2009. Should the option holder resign 
from the Group before these dates, the options will be 
forfeited.

The Trust holds sufficient shares to meet its 
commitments. Shares will be bought in the open market 
by the scheme to meet any future allocations.

Included in the share option expense is an amount of 
R287 607 (2006: R492 000) relating to executive and 
non-executive directors.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

No special resolutions were passed by the Company 
nor any of its subsidiaries during the year under review.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Details of the Company’s interest in its subsidiaries are 
set out on page 24.

The Company’s interest in the profits and losses after 
taxation and minority shareholders’ interest of its 
subsidiaries is:

2007
Rm’s

2006
Rm’s

Profi ts 168 111

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid to each director during the year 
by a subsidiary company are set out in the table below.

All emoluments paid to directors are short term in 
nature, other than gains on exercise of share options.

The remuneration of both executive and non-executive 
directors is determined by the remuneration committee. 
Other benefi ts include the fringe benefi t value of company 
cars for executive directors and fees for services rendered 
by non-executive directors.

All fi gures in R000’s
Board

fees Salary

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

Provident
fund and
medical

contributions

Gain on
exercised

share
options

Other
benefi ts

Total 
2007

Total
2006

Executive directors
G A M Ravazzotti* — 650 1 425 — — — 2 075 19 233
P D Swatton — 1 003 923 123 — 118 2 167 8 775
G P E Ravazzotti — 1 003 845 124 7 200 87 9 259 3 332
C Trumpelmann — — — — — — — 1 493
2007  — 2 656 3 193 247 7 200 205 13 501 —
2006 — 2 645 4 115 378 25 503 192 — 32 833
Non-executive directors
G F Cousins — — — — — — — 24
J Couzis 170 — — — — 13 183 9 057
D H Rabin 132 — — — — — 132 125
S I Gama** 155 — — — — — 155 140
2007 457 — — — — 13 470 —
2006 429 — — — 8 850 67 — 9 346
Aggregate emoluments of directors who served during the year 6 771 42 179

* Paid to Rallen (Pty) Ltd, the company that this director represents for his services as director of Italtile Limited. Refer to note 28.
** Paid to Spoornet the employer of this director.
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2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

Revenue 3 1 620 1 418

Turnover 3 1 477 1 285

Cost of sales 4 (844) (760)

Gross profi t 633 525

Other operating income 130 124

Expenses

 Sales and distribution (203) (149)

 General and administration (167) (158)

 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment — (4)

Trading profi t 5 393 338

Interest income 9 8

Dividend income 6 8 9

Interest paid (2) (3)

Profi t before taxation 408 352

Taxation 7 (131) (111)

Profi t for the year 277 241

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent 270 233

 Minority interests 7 8

277 241

Earnings per share (cents) 8 1 489,7 1 290,1

Headline earnings per share (cents) 8 1 489,7 1 312,3

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 8 1 476,1 1 270,7

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 8 1 477,3 1 292,5

Dividends paid per share (cents) 9a 520,0 630,0

Dividends declared per share (cents) 9b 500,0 430,0

Group income statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

ASSETS

Non-current assets 772 550

Property, plant and equipment 10 753 537

Other investments 11 5 5

Long-term assets 12 6 4

Goodwill 13 4 —

Deferred taxation 14 4 4

Current assets 573 567

Inventories 15 224 150

Trade and other receivables 16 91 74

Cash and cash equivalents 17 258 343

Total assets 1 345 1 117

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 944 764

Stated capital 18 27 27

Non-distributable reserve 24 14

Treasury shares (54) (48)

Share option reserve 4 3

Retained earnings 943 768

Minority interest 32 30

Total equity 976 794

Total liabilities 369 323

Non-current liabilities 12 11

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 19 11 10

Deferred taxation 14 1 1

Current liabilities 357 312

Trade and other payables 20 334 289

Taxation 23 23

Total equity and liabilities 1 345 1 117

Group balance sheet
at 30 June 2007
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Rm’s Note
Stated
capital

Non-
distribu-
table re-

serve*
Treasury

shares

Share
option

reserve
Retained
earnings

Equity
holders

of the
parent

Minority
interest Total

Balance at 30 June 2005 27 11 (55) 2 649 634 29 663

Profi t for the year 233 233 8 241

Dividends paid 9a (114) (114) (3) (117)

Equity share options 1 1 1

Currency translation difference 3 3 3

Allocated shares in share trust 10 10 10

Accumulated surplus in share trust (3) (3) (3)

Purchase of additional shares in 
subsidiary (4) (4)

Balance at 30 June 2006 27 14 (48) 3 768 764 30 794

Profi t for the year 270 270 7 277

Dividends paid 9a (95) (95) (4) (99)

Equity share options 1 1 1

Currency translation difference 10 10 10

Unallocated shares in share trust (6) (6) (6)

Share capital increase by subsidiary 1 1

Purchase of additional share in 
subsidiary (2) (2)

Balance at 30 June 2007 27 24 (54) 4 943 944 32 976

*The non-distributable reserve is comprised entirely of the foreign currency translation reserve.

Group statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 1 463 1 276

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1 080) (890)

Cash generated from operations 21 383 386

Interest received 9 8

Dividends received 8 9

Dividends paid 22 (99) (117)

Taxation paid 23 (131) (116)

Interest paid (2) (3)

Net cash fl ows from operating activities 168 167

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment (expansion) (243) (128)

Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 2   —

Increase in share in subsidiary 24 (6) —

Lease premiums paid (2) —

Purchase of treasury shares (9) (8)

Treasury shares taken up 3 15

Net cash fl ows utilised in investing activities (255) (121)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

External proceeds from an increase in stated capital of subsidiary 1 —

Increase in interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
(includes short-term portion) 1 —

Purchase of additional share in subsidiary — (4)

Net cash fl ows from/(utilised by) fi nancing activities 2 (4)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents for the year (85) 42

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 343 301

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 258 343

Group cash flow statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 1.1 Statement of compliance
The consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). 

1.2 Basis of preparation
The annual fi nancial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis, adjusted for the fair valuing of 
certain assets and liabilities. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these consolidated fi nancial statements.
The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within 
the next fi nancial year, relates to the provision for stock obsolescence. The Group determines whether there is 
obsolete stock on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the expected future saleability of stock items 
based on historical experience. More details of the stock write-off is given in note 15.
The fi nancial statements are presented in rands and all values are rounded to the nearest million (R’000 000), 
except when otherwise indicated.

1.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the results and fi nancial position of the Company, its 
subsidiaries, its associates, the Share Incentive Trust and its joint venture interests.
Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights 
or otherwise has the power to exercise control over the operations. The results of subsidiaries are included from 
the effective dates of acquisition until the effective dates of disposal. The identifi able assets and liabilities of 
companies acquired are assessed and included in the balance sheet at their fair values as at the effective dates 
of acquisition.
New acquisitions are included in the Group’s fi nancial statements using the purchase method whereby the assets 
and liabilities are measured at their fair value. The purchase consideration is allocated on the basis of fair values 
at the date of acquisition.
Intragroup balances and transactions have been eliminated. Unrealised profi ts that arise between Group entities 
are eliminated.
All companies in the Group maintain consistent accounting policies and have the same year-ends.
Joint ventures are those enterprises over which the Group exercises joint control in terms of a contractual 
agreement. Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by way of the proportionate consolidation 
method whereby the Group’s proportional share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint ventures 
are combined on a line-by-line basis, with similar items in the fi nancial statements of the Group. The results of joint 
ventures are included from the effective dates of their acquisition and up to the effective dates of their disposal.

Notes to the group financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.4 Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost and represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair 
value of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill carried in the balance sheet is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for 
impairment annually or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired.
As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected 
to benefi t from the acquisition. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of the cash-generating 
unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed 
of, is included in the carrying amount of the operation, when determining the gain or loss on disposal of that 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained.

1.5 Treasury shares
Shares in Italtile Limited held by the Group are classifi ed in capital and reserves as treasury shares. These shares 
are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. Dividends received on 
treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

1.6 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of the 
consideration given and including acquisition charges associated with the investment. Investments are carried at 
cost, less impairment.
The carrying value of the subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment at every balance sheet date. Where necessary, 
the value of the investment is written down to the greater of the net selling price or the value in use.
The difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of investments is charged to the 
income statement.

1.7 Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of the 
transactions. The related monetary assets and liabilities at year-end are translated at the rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.
The Group has investments in foreign subsidiary companies which are classified as foreign entities. The 
financial statements of these subsidiaries are translated for incorporation into the Group financial 
statements as follows:
●  Assets and liabilities at closing rate.
●  Income statement items at a weighted average rate for the period.
●  Cash flow items at a weighted average rate for the period.
●  Equity items at the appropriate historical rate.
Exchange differences are taken directly to a foreign currency translation reserve which is disclosed in the 
statement of changes in equity.
Exchange rates utilised to convert financial information are as follows:

2007 2006
Weighted

average rate
for the year Closing rate

Weighted
average rate
for the year Closing rate

Australian $: ZAR 5,67:1 6,01:1 4,81:1 5,31:1

Botswana Pula: ZAR 1,20:1 1,16:1 1,18:1 1,22:1

Euro: ZAR 9,41:1 9,54:1 7,82:1 9,16:1

Namibian $: ZAR 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Property, plant and equipment
Land is not depreciated. All buildings, including investment properties, are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment.
A valuation to open market value for existing use is done on an annual basis for disclosure and impairment 
purposes. Provision is made for any impairment to the carrying value of properties and is charged to the 
income statement.
All plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis estimated to write each asset down to estimated 
residual value over the term of its useful life at the following annual rates:
●  Buildings 2%
●  Plant and machinery  25%
●  Vehicles 20% to 25%
●  Computer equipment 20% to 33,3%
●  Furniture and fittings 16,6% to 33,3%
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (ie the higher of 
value in use and net selling price) it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The useful lives 
and residual values are reviewed annually.
Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are 
taken to the income statement.

1.9 Inventory 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined on a 
weighted average cost method and excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.

1.10 Deferred taxation
Deferred income tax is provided, on the liability method, on recognised temporary differences at tax rates 
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, other than in the circumstances 
described below. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
carry-forward or unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, other than in the circumstances 
described below. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where they arise from goodwill arising on acquisition 
or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

1.11 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

1.12 Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the buyer and excludes cash discounts, rebates and relevant indirect taxes.
Revenue from fixed property rental, which is turnover-related, is recognised when the sale of goods, which 
gives rise to this revenue, takes place.
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis which takes into account the effective yield on the asset 
over the period it is expected to be held.
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Revenue from franchise income and royalties is recognised when the sale, which gives rise to this revenue, 
takes place.

Notes to the group financial statements continued
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.13 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Defined-contribution plan
Current contributions to the retirement benefit plan are the best estimate of current service costs and are 
charged against income as services are rendered by the employee.
Equity participation plan
Selected employees, including directors, of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options, 
whereby they render services in exchange for rights over shares. The cost of share options is measured by 
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, further details of which are given in note 5. In valuing the share 
options, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the 
shares of Italtile Limited.
The cost of the share options is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, 
over the vesting period ending on the date on which the performance conditions are fulfilled and the 
employees become fully entitled to take up the share options. The cumulative expense recognised for 
share options granted at each balance sheet date until the vesting date, reflects the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and the number of share option grants that will ultimately vest in the opinion of 
the directors of the Group, at that date. This is based on the best available estimate of the number of share 
options that will ultimately vest. No expense is recognised for share options that do not ultimately vest.
Where the terms of the share options are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the 
terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense if recognised for any increase in the value of the 
transactions, as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.
Where a share option is forfeited prior to vesting, it is treated as if it had never been granted, and any 
expense recognised for the award is reversed immediately. If a new share option is substituted for the 
cancelled share option, and designated as a replacement share option on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new share option grant are treated as if they were a modification of the original grant, as 
described above.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as a share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share (refer to note 8).

1.14 Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet comprise cash and cash equivalents, other 
investments, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings.

Measurement
All financial instruments are recognised at the time the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair values. Directly attributable 
transaction costs are included in the fair value, unless it is classified as fair value through profit or loss.
Investments that are considered available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value, except for 
unlisted equity investments which are carried at cost as a reliable measure of fair value and cannot be 
determined. All movements are recognised as a separate component of equity.
Cash and cash equivalents that have a fixed maturity date are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using effective interest rates. Cash and cash equivalents that do not have a fixed maturity are subsequently 
measured at cost.
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, trade and other receivables are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is 
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. In relation to trade receivables, a provision for 
impairment is made where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all of the 
amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectable. If 
there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on other receivables carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash fl ows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the receivable 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of loss shall be recognised in the 
income statement.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.14 Financial instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to manage its risks associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivative financial instruments. Details of the Group’s 
financial risk management objectives and policies are set out in note 28.
All derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value. Any gain or loss from remeasuring the 
derivative financial instrument to fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement.
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates 
for contracts with similar maturity profiles.
Disclosure in respect of financial instruments is provided in note 28.

Derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets are derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights that comprise the financial 
asset are realised, expire or are surrendered. Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, 
the liability is extinguished, either through settlement, cancellation or expiration. Gains or losses on 
derecognition are recognised in the income statement at the date of derecognition.

Offset of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are set off against each other where there is an intention to settle the 
amounts simultaneously or not, and a legal right of set-off exists.

1.15 Leases
Assets leased in terms of agreements, which are considered to be finance leases, are capitalised. Leases 
are classified as finance leases where substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of 
an asset are transferred from the lessor to the Group, as lessee. Assets subject to finance leases are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the minimum 
lease payments, with the related lease obligation recognised at the same value. Capitalised leased assets 
are depreciated at the same rates and on the same basis as equivalent owned assets. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (ie the higher of value in use and net 
selling price), it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, based on the value in use or net 
selling price. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases, using the effective 
interest rate method and reflected in Interest paid in the income statement.
All other leases are treated as operating leases and the relevant rentals are charged to income in a 
systematic manner related to the period of use of the assets concerned, on a straight-line basis.

1.16 Dividends paid
Dividends paid are recognised as appropriations of reserves in the statement of changes in equity at the 
dates of declaration.

1.17 Secondary taxes on companies (STC)
STC is provided in respect of expected dividend payments, net of dividends received or receivable, and is 
recognised as a taxation charge in the year in which the dividend is declared. Where applicable, non-
resident shareholders’ taxation is provided in respect of foreign dividends receivable. To the extent that it is 
probable that entities within the Group with STC credits will declare dividends of its own against which 
unused STC credits can be utilised, a deferred tax asset is raised.

1.18 IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations that are not yet effective:
●  IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”:
  This standard is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. This revised 

standard requires disclosure of:
 (a)  the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial position and performance. These 

disclosures incorporate many of the requirements previously in IAS 32; and
 (b)  qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 

including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The qualitative 
disclosures describe management’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks. The 
quantitative disclosures provide information about the extent to which the entity is exposed to risk, 
based on information provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel. Together, these 
disclosures provide an overview of the entity’s use of financial instruments and the exposures to risks 
they create.

●  Amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”: 
The amendments to this standard are to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 
The amendments require that an entity shall disclose information that enables users of its fi nancial 
statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007



I t a l t i l e  L imi ted  Annua l  Repor t  2007

39

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.18 IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations not yet effective (continued)
● IFRIC 8, “Operating Segments”:
  This standard is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This statement 

requires that an entity shall disclose information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate 
the nature and financial effects of the business activities in which it engages and the economic 
environments in which it operates.

● Amendments to IAS 23, “Borrowing Costs”:
  This standard is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The standard 

requires that borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense.

● IFRIC 10, “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”:
  This Interpretation is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006. An entity is 

required to assess goodwill for impairment at every reporting date, to assess investments in equity 
instruments and in financial assets carried at cost for impairment at every balance sheet date and, if 
required, to recognise an impairment loss at that date in accordance with IAS 36 and IAS 39. However, at a 
subsequent reporting or balance sheet date, conditions may have so changed that the impairment loss 
would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment assessment been made only at that date. This 
Interpretation provides guidance on whether such impairment losses should ever be reversed. 
Furthermore, the Interpretation addresses the interaction between the requirements of IAS 34 and the 
recognition of impairment losses on goodwill in IAS 36 and certain financial assets in IAS 39, and the effect 
of that interaction on subsequent interim and annual financial statements.

● IFRIC 11, “Group and Treasury Share Transactions”:
  This Interpretation is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007. This 

Interpretation addresses two issues. The first is whether the certain transactions should be accounted for 
as equity-settled or as cash-settled under the requirements of IFRS 2. The second issue concerns share-
based payment arrangements that involve two or more entities within the same group. For example, 
employees of a subsidiary are granted rights to equity instruments of its parent as consideration for the 
services provided to the subsidiary.

● IFRIC 12, “Service Concession Arrangements”:
  This Interpretation is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. This 

Interpretation gives guidance on the accounting by operators for public-to-private service concession 
arrangements. This Interpretation does not apply to the activities of the Group.

● IFRIC 13, “Customer Loyalty Programmes”:
  This Interpretation is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008. This Interpretation 

gives guidance on the accounting of customer loyalty award credits. This Interpretation does not apply to 
the activities of the Group.

●  IFRIC 14, “IAS 19 – The Limit On A Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements And Their 
Interaction”:

  This Interpretation is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The issues 
addressed in this Interpretation are when refunds or reductions in future contributions should be regarded 
as available, how a minimum funding requirement might affect the availability of reductions in future 
contributions and when a minimum funding requirement might give rise to a liability. This Interpretation 
does not apply to the activities of the Group.

The Group expects the pronouncements listed above to have no impact on the Group’s results, other than 
additional disclosures required in the Group annual financial statements in the period of initial recognition 
and/or for comparative periods as may be required.
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2. DEFINITIONS

2.1 System wide turnover
Aggregated turnover of the Group-owned and franchised stores.

2.2 Cost of sales
Cost of sales is calculated as the historical cost of inventory, including distribution costs incurred in 
bringing the inventory to the retail locations together with stock losses and in-store promotional costs.

2.3 Sales and distribution costs
Sales and distribution costs include costs incurred in bringing inventory to the retail locations and ensuring 
the saleability thereof.

2.4 General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses are those overhead expenses that have not been allocated to 
inventory valuation.

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalent amounts comprise cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks and highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant 
changes in value.

2.6 Business and geographical segment
The principal segments of the Group have been identified on a primary basis by operational functionality 
and on a secondary basis by significant geographical region.
The basis is representative of the internal structure for management purposes, which reflects the source 
and nature of business risks and returns.

2.7 Segment revenue
Segment revenues are revenues that are directly attributable to a segment, or the relevant portion of 
revenues that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, and that are derived from transactions 
with parties outside the enterprise and from other segments of the same enterprise.

2.8 Segment expenses
Segment expenses are expenses that are directly attributable to a segment or the relevant portion of 
expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, and that are derived from transactions 
with parties outside the enterprise and from other segments of the same enterprise.

2.9 Segment results
Net total of segment revenue less segment expenses.

2.10 Segment assets
Total assets, of a segment, excluding interest and dividend generating assets and income tax assets.

2.11 Segment liabilities.
Total liabilities, of a segment, excluding interest-bearing liabilities and income tax liabilities.

2.12 Treasury shares
Shares in Italtile Limited held by the Share Incentive Trust.

2.13 Cash generating unit
A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Notes to the group financial statements continued
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

3. REVENUE

Turnover represents net sales, excluding 

value-added tax and intercompany sales

Total revenue comprises:

Turnover 1 477 1 285

Rental income 52 47

Interest income 9 8

Dividend income 8 9

Franchise income (excluding royalties) 18 19

Royalty income from franchising 56 50

1 620 1 418

4. COSTS OF SALES

Cost of sales consists largely of the cost of inventories recognised as an 
expense

844 760

5. TRADING PROFIT

Trading profit is stated after taking into account the following items:

Auditors’ remuneration

– Audit fee 1 1

– Taxation assurance, franchise reviews and other services* — —

– Expenses* — —

1 1

Depreciation

Owned and leased

– Buildings 4 2

– Plant and machinery 1 2

– Vehicles 1 1

– Computer equipment 5 3

– Furniture and fittings 23 13

34 21

*Less than R1 million.
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

5. TRADING PROFIT (continued)

Operating lease payments

– Properties 15 14

All the operating leases pertain to properties that are rented then sublet to 
Group-owned and franchised stores. The subrentals are turnover related 
and can therefore not be predetermined. At current levels they exceed 
abovementioned obligations.

Contingent lease payments were determined, based on escalated 
contractual rentals charged by third parties. Certain leases have renewal 
terms. There are no trading restrictions on any of the leases.

Total of future minimum contracted operating lease payments:

 Within 1 year 11 9

 Within 2 – 5 years 14 19

 Later than 5 years — —

25 28

Directors emoluments

Refer to page 26 of the directors’ report for detail disclosures.

Employee remuneration

– Salaries and wages 80 67

– Profit share 24 15

– Contributions to retirement benefits 6 4

110 86

Share Incentive Trust

In terms of the Share Incentive Trust, shares are offered on a combined option and deferred sale basis. Options 
vest over a period of five years. An agreement of deferred sale is automatically constituted on acceptance of the 
offer. All shares must be taken up by way of a purchase and delivery by no later than seven years after the grant 
date. The exercise price of the option is not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the day prior to 
the date of grant and the option is exercisable provided that the participant has remained in the Group’s employ 
until the option vests. Should the participant resign before these vesting dates, the options will be forfeited. An 
exception is made in the case of termination of employment as a result of death or retirement. Options are settled 
in equity once exercised and subsequently taken up.

In terms of a resolution passed at a shareholders’ meeting on 12 January 1993, the directors are authorised to 
make available for the purposes of the scheme a maximum aggregate number of 2 801 000 ordinary shares (2006: 
2 801 000), representing 15% of the issued share capital at that time. The scheme exists for the directors and 
senior management of the Company with a limit of 350 000 shares which any one participant may acquire.

The following assumptions were used in valuing the various option grants:

2007 2006

Expected volatility 18% to 24% 18% to 28%

Risk-free interest rate 8,19% to 8,26% 8,13% to 8,26%

Expected dividend yield 1,90% to 2,07% 1,35% to 2,07%

Expected life (years) 5,5 5,5

Notes to the group financial statements continued
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5. TRADING PROFIT (continued)

Share Incentive Trust (continued)

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and expected future trends and is not necessarily 
indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility in 2007 of 18% to 24% reflects the 
assumption that the historical volatilities of 18% to 24% are indicative of future trends.

The fair value of the share options that were granted over the year to 30 June 2007 is Rnil (2006: nil). Included in 
the expenses in the profit and loss for the year is R1 million (2006: R1 million) relating to the current year share 
option expense.

 The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices of share options held by eligible 
participants including executive directors:

2007 2006

Number
of share
options

Weighted
 average

exercise price
(R)

Number
of share
options

Weighted 
average

exercise price
(R)

At 1 July 293 000 79,37 803 000 57,89

New allocations made — — — —

Redeemed allocations (62 000) 54,72 (375 000) 41,09

Forfeited allocations (20 000) 72,00 (135 000) 60,00

Outstanding at 30 June 211 000 87,31 293 000 79,37

Average subscription price per share 87,31 79,37

 The options outstanding at 30 June 2007 become unconditional on the following dates:

Subscription
price (R)

Number of
shares

16 September 2008 72,00 52 500

4 March 2009 80,00 60 000

17 May 2009 92,00 38 500

1 November 2009 105,00 60 000

 Should the participant resign from the Group prior to the commencement dates as indicated above, the shares for 
options will not be awarded, payment will not be required and the options will be forfeited. 

 A breakdown of the share options in issue to executive and non-executive directors is given in the directors’ report on 
page 28.

2007 2006

6. DIVIDEND INCOME

Unlisted 8 9

Dividend income from other sources 8 9



I t a l t i l e  L imi ted  Annua l  Repor t  2007

44

2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

7. TAXATION

Current taxation

– Normal tax 121 100

– Deferred tax —* (1)

– Secondary tax on companies 10 12

131 111

*Less than R1 million

Reconciliation of tax rate % %

Standard tax rate – South Africa 29,0 29,0

Adjusted for:

Exempt income (0,6) (0,7)

Other permanent differences 1,2 (0,2)

Secondary tax on companies 2,5 3,4

Effective tax rate 32,1 31,5

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is based on the income 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of R270 million (2006: R233 million).

Reconciliation of headline and diluted headline earnings:

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 270 233

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net of taxes) — 4

270 237

 The calculation of earnings per share and headline earnings per share 
is based on 18 124 734 (2006: 18 048 259) weighted average number of shares
in issue during the period.

 The calculation of diluted earnings per share and diluted headline earnings 
per share is based on:

Weighted average number of shares in issue for basic and headline earnings 
per share 18 124 734 18 048 259

Potentially dilutive ordinary shares resulting from options outstanding 136 484 275 666

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 18 261 218 18 323 925

9a DIVIDENDS PAID IN THE CURRENT YEAR

Final 2006 – No 80

Paid 2007: 290 cents per share (2006: 160 cents) 53 28

Special 2005 – No 2

Paid 2007: – cents per share (2006: 330 cents) — 59

Interim 2007 – No 81

Paid 2007: 230 cents per share (2006: 140 cents) 42 27

Total – 520 cents per share (2006: 630 cents per share) 95 114

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007 
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

9b DIVIDENDS DECLARED WITH RELATION TO CURRENT YEAR PROFIT

Interim – No 81

230 cents per share (2006: 140 cents per share) 42 27

Final – No 82

270 cents per share (2006: 290 cents per share) 49 53

Total – 500 cents per share (2006: 430 cents per share) 91 80

Land and
buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and
machinery

Rm’s
Vehicles

Rm’s

Computer
equipment

Rm’s

Furniture
and fi ttings

Rm’s
Totals
Rm’s

10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

2007

Owned and leased

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 501 18 3 18 100 640

– accumulated depreciation (5) (16) (1) (6) (75) (103)

– net book value 496 2 2 12 25 537

Current year movements

– additions 187 9 3 2 42 243

– disposals — — (1) — (1) (2)

– depreciation (4) (1) (1) (5) (23) (34)

– translation 9 1 — — (1) 9

Balance at end of year 688 11 3 9 42 753

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 697 27 4 20 99 847

– accumulated depreciation (9) (16) (1) (11) (57) (94)

– net book value 688 11 3 9 42 753

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

 Buildings with a cost of R357,0 million were valued in November 2006 by Willis South Africa (Pty) Limited to a replacement 
value for existing use of R530,0 million. 

 A register of the Group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the Company’s registered offi ce.

 Certain property, plant and equipment is encumbered as stated in note 19. The net book value of furniture and fi ttings 
held under fi nance leases at 30 June 2007 was R2 million (2006: nil). Additions during the year include R3 million of 
furniture and fi ttings held under fi nance leases with R1 million (2006: nil) in depreciation and writedowns. Leased assets 
are pledged as security for the related fi nance lease. Refer to note 19 for further details.

At 30 June 2007 the Group had no idle fi xed assets.
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Land and
buildings*

Rm’s

Plant and
machinery

Rm’s
Vehicles

Rm’s

Computer
equipment

Rm’s

Furniture
and fi ttings

Rm’s
Totals
Rm’s

10.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT (continued)

2006

Owned:

Beginning of year

– assets at cost 416 16 5 13 33 483

– accumulated depreciation (3) (14) (3) (9) (21) (50)

– net book value 413 2 2 4 12 433

Current year movements

– additions 82 3 2 15 26 128

– disposals — — (1) (3) — (4)

– depreciation (2) (2) (1) (3) (13) (21)

– translation 3 (1) — (1) — 1

Balance at end of year 496 2 2 12 25 537

Made up as follows:

– assets at cost 501 18 3 18 100 640

– accumulated depreciation (5) (16) (1) (6) (75) (103)

– net book value 496 2 2 12 25 537

*Constituting owner- and related-party occupied properties.

2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

11. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Unlisted

Equity instruments – at cost 5 5

Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments 5 5

 All unlisted equity instruments have no reliable measure of fair value as there is no active trading market for these 
instruments, therefore these investments are carried at cost less impairment.

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

12. LONG-TERM ASSETS

Lease premiums

 Lease premiums paid in advance on land leases that have 
a duration of between 35 and 50 years 6 4

13. GOODWILL

Beginning of year

– cost — —

– impairment — —

– net book value — —

Goodwill arising on increase in share in subsidiary (refer to note 24) 4 —

Balance at end of year 4 —

Made up as follows:

– cost 4 —

– impairment — —

– net book value 4 —

14. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets (4) (4)

Deferred tax liabilities 1 1

(3) (3)

The deferred tax balance is made up as follows:

Opening
balance

Rm’s

Charged
through
income

statement
Rm’s

Closing
balance

Rm’s

Deferred tax asset:

 Accruals (3) —* (3)

 STC credit (1) —* (1)

Deferred tax liability:

 Prepayments 1 —* 1

 Net deferred tax (asset)/liability (3) —* (3)

*Less than R1 million.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when the income tax relates to the same legal entity or fi scal authority.

The tax rate applied to South African entities is 29% and to Australian entities 30%.
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

15. INVENTORIES

Finished goods and merchandise 224 150

The amount of writedown of inventories recognised as an expense is R1 million 

(2006: R3 million). This expense is included in the general and administration 
expenses line item on the face of the income statement. 

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 78 65

Sundry debtors 13 9

91 74

For terms and conditions relating to related-party receivables, refer to note 29.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms.

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand 176 175

Short-term investments 82 168

258 343

18. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

75 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

Issued

18 677 283 (2006: 18 677 283) ordinary shares of 

no par value 27 27

Number of shares in issue to external parties:

Total shares in issue 18 677 283 18 677 283

Treasury shares (555 502) (581 602)

In issue to external parties 18 121 781 18 095 681

All unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

Notes to the group financial statements continued
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

19. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Finance leases

Secured

South African rand

Obligations under fi nance leases 2 —

Current obligation included in accruals (1) —

Non-current obligations under fi nance leases 1 —

Foreign long-term loans

Secured

Australian dollars

Loans secured by a fi rst mortgage over property that has a current value of 
R25,6 million, bear interest at 8,4% per annum, and matures on 5 October 2012. 10 10

11 10

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 262 218

Accruals/other payables 72 71

334 289

For terms and conditions relating to related parties, refer to note 29.

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day 
terms.

Accruals/other payables are mostly non-interest bearing and have an average 
term of six months.

21. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 

Profi t before taxation 408 352

Adjusted for:

 Depreciation 34 21

 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment — 4

 Interest received (9) (8)

 Dividends received (8) (9)

 Interest paid 2 3

 Share option expense 1 1

 Working capital changes

  (Increase)/decrease in inventories (74) 4

  Increase in trade and other receivables (18) (9)

  Increase in trade and other payables 47 27

 Cash generated from operations 383 386
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2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

22. DIVIDENDS PAID

Charged per statement of changes in equity (95) (114)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (4) (3)

Amounts paid (99) (117)

23. TAXATION PAID

Amounts unpaid at beginning of year (23) (27)

Charged per income statement (131) (111)

Deferred tax benefi t — (1)

Amounts unpaid at end of year 23 23

Amounts paid (131) (116)

24. INCREASE IN SHARE IN SUBSIDIARY

On 1 October 2006, the Group acquired an additional 40% of the voting shares 
of Earlyworks 191 (Pty) Limited, taking its ownership to 100% of the voting 
shares. Cash consideration of R6 million was paid. The book value of 100% of 
the net assets at this date was R6 million and the book value of the additional  
interest acquired was R2 million. The difference of R4 million between the 
consideration and the book value of the interest acquired has been recognised 
as goodwill, as no other separately identifi able intangible assets were 
recognised.

25. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure for land and buildings, 
computer equipment and other fi xed assets

Contracted 23 78

Authorised but not contracted for 138 72

161 150

Capital expenditure will be financed from own resources.

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007 
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25. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued)

Finance lease commitments

The Group has finance lease commitments for various items of furniture and fittings. The Group does have the 
option to purchase the assets at the end of the lease. There are no escalation clauses. Future minimum lease 
payments under finance leases, together with the present value of the minimum lease payments, are as follows:

 2007 2006

Minimum
 payments

Rm’s

Present value 
 of payments 

(Note 19) 
Rm’s

Minimum
 payments  

Rm’s

Present value 
of payments 

(Note 19) 
Rm’s

Within on year� 1 1 — —

After one year but not more than five years 1 1 — —

Total minimum lease payments 2 2 — —

Less amounts representing finance charges (1) —

Present value of minimum lease payments 1 2 — —

Operating lease commitments

Refer to note 5 for details of lease commitments.

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Italtile Provident Fund is a defined-contribution plan and is governed by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 
(Act No 24 of 1956).

The Fund was valuation exempt until the promulgation of the Pension Funds Second Amendment Act on 
7 December 2001, and subsequent regulations thereafter, with the effect that the valuation exemption could not 
be renewed post 7 December 2003 until a surplus investigation had been conducted.

• The Financial Services Board recorded a Nil Surplus Scheme as at 20 February 2006.
•  An interim valuation of the Fund was carried out at 30 June 2006 and revealed the Fund in a sound fi nancial position. 

The Fund will apply to the Registrar for value exempt status to be reviewed from 30 June 2007.

At 30 June 2007, 514 (2006: 421) employees were members of the Fund, to which the Group contributed 
R4 million (2006: R4 million) and the employees R2 million (2006: R2 million).

The Fund is open to all permanent staff with their participation thereof being a condition of employment. Their 
dependants are eligible for death benefits accruing from the Fund in the event of the member’s death.

27. BORROWING CAPACITY
In terms of the Articles of Association the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Foreign currency management

It is the Group’s policy to enter into foreign exchange contracts to cover all foreign denominated transactions for 
which no letter of credit has been issued. No material forward exchange contracts existed at 30 June 2007.

Credit risk management

The Group only deposits cash surpluses with major banks of high-quality credit standing.

Trade account receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Ongoing credit evaluation of the financial 
position of customers is performed, and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance is purchased.

The granting of credit is made on application and is approved by management. At year-end, the Group did not 
consider there to be any significant concentration of credit risk which has not been insured or adequately 
provided for.

Liquidity and interest rate risk

As part of the process of managing the Group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings 
are positioned according to expected movements in interest rates. Full details of interest rates relating to 
borrowings are detailed in note 19.

The Group has cash and cash equivalents of R258 million (2006: R343 million), and unutilised credit facilities of 
R93 million (2006: R93 million).
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is controlled by Rallen (Pty) Limited which owns 56,7% (2006: 56,7%) of its issued share capital. The 
Group purchases product from Rallen (Pty) Limited’s subsidiary, Ceramic Industries Limited. In addition, the 
Company pays Rallen (Pty) Limited for directors’ remuneration.

Other related parties listed are related due to the sharing of key management personnel.

All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured, 
interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related- 
party receivables or payables. For the year ended 30 June 2007, the Group has not made any provision for 
doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2006: nil). This assessment is undertaken each 
financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related 
party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

Aggregate value
of transactions

Balances owing
at year-end

Related party
Nature of 
transactions

2007
Rm’s

2006
Rm’s

2007
Rm’s

2006
Rm’s

Ceramic Industries 
Limited Inventory purchases 376 307 27 18

Rallen (Pty) Limited Management fees 2 2 — —

Routledge Modise 
Moss Morris Legal services 1 1 — —

Key management personnel comprise only the Board of Directors. Remuneration paid to key management 
personnel of the Group is therefore detailed in the directors’ report, (refer to page 29). No balances were owing at 
year-end (2006: nil).

2007 2006
Rm’s Rm’s

30. JOINT VENTURE

The Group has a 50% interest in SER Export s.p.a, a company 
incorporated in Italy.

Impact on Group balance sheet

Current assets 13 14

Non-current assets 7 7

Current liabilities (non-interest bearing) 13 14

Impact on Group income statement

Income 3 36

Expenses (3) (35)

Impact on Group cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities 1 5

Cash flow from investing activities — (1)

Cash from financing activities — —

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Retail Franchising Property

Supply and
support
services Group

31. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

Primary segments

2007

Group revenue 1 620

Add:

 Other income 1

Add back:

  Interest and dividend received 
(excluded from segment 
revenue) (17)

Revenue (external) 1 272 55 51 226 1 604

– Total 1 272 147 115 699 2 233

– Internal (with other segments) — (92) (64) (473) (629)

Depreciation (17) — (9) (8) (34)

Other net (expenses)/income (1 016) 23 (15) (169) (1 177)

Segment results 239 78 27 49 393

Net interest and dividends received
15

Group profit before taxation
408

Total segment assets 308 27 611 137 1 083

Deferred taxation 4

Cash  and cash equivalents 258

Total Group assets
1 345

Total segment liabilities 166 1 13 154 334

Deferred taxation 1

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 11

Taxation 23

Total Group liabilities
369

Cost of assets acquired 24 — 187 32 243
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Retail Franchising Property

Supply and
support
services Group

31. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
(continued)

Primary segments

2006

Group revenue 1 418

Add:

 Other income 8

Add back:

  Interest and dividend received 
(excluded from segment 
revenue) (17)

Revenue (external) 1 064 57 47 241 1 409

– Total 1 064 107 99 524 1 794

– Internal (with other segments) — (50) (52) (283) (385)

Depreciation (11) — (6) (4) (21)

Other net (expenses)/income (855) 13 (13) (195) (1 050)

Segment results 198 70 28 42 338

Net interest and dividends received
14

Group profit before taxation
352

Total segment assets 227 13 422 108 770

Deferred taxation 4

Cash and cash equivalents 343

Total Group assets
1 117

Total segment liabilities 130 3 11 145 289

Deferred taxation 1

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 10

Taxation owed 23

Total Group liabilities
323

Cost of assets acquired 11 — 65 52 128

Notes to the group financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007 
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31. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)

Nature of business segments

Retail segment: Sells tiles, vitreous china sanitaryware and bathroom accessories to the public.

Property segment: Purchases and rents out properties from which retail operations and franchisees operate.

Franchise segment: Income and costs incurred with relation to maintaining and use of the brand names in 
the Group.

Corporate services: Income and costs incurred in providing procurement, management and secretarial services.

South
Africa

Other
countries Group

Secondary segments

2007

Revenue – external sales 1 511 93 1 604

Total assets 1 006 77 1 083

Cost of assets acquired 230 13 243

2006

Revenue – external sales 1 324 85 1 409

Total assets 628 142 770

Cost of assets acquired 120 8 128

Nature of geographical segments

South Africa: Includes the results of the operations and activities within the borders of South Africa.

Other countries: Includes the results of the operations and activities in Mauritius, Australia, Italy, Botswana 
and Namibia.

Intersegmental transfer pricing 

All intersegmental transactions are concluded at arm’s length. 

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Share split

A special resolution was approved by the requisite majority on 12 July 2007 to give effect to a 44:1 subdivision of 
the Company’s share capital to enhance the tradability of the shares in issue. At the date of these fi nancial 
statements, the special resolution had not yet been registered by the relevant government agency. Accordingly, all 
the share-related information in these fi nancial statements makes reference to actual numbers of shares in issue 
prior to the approved subdivision of shares.

Black economic empowerment

The Group fi nalised a black economic empowerment, or BEE, transaction to sell 10,7% of the Group’s ordinary 
share capital to a BEE consortium which includes Italtile’s black staff. Implementation of the BEE transaction is 
subject to section 38 (2A) of the Companies Act coming into effect. The BEE transaction fulfi ls an important 
component of Italtile’s BEE strategy which was initiated with enterprise development and the introduction of 
black-owned franchises, following which the Group met all its employment equity targets. With the achievement 
of these key elements of broad-based BEE, the Group is now well positioned to access segments of the market 
from which it was previously precluded.
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Company income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

Revenue 1 112 133

Dividend income – from subsidiaries 2 110 130

Dividend income – other 2 2 3

Management fees 3 2

Expenses

 General and administration (2) (1)

Profi t before taxation 3 113 134

Taxation 4 (11) (12)

Profi t for the year 102 122
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Company balance sheet
at 30 June 2007

2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

ASSETS

Non-current assets 8 8

Investment in subsidiaries 5 8 8

Current assets 127 121

Amounts owing by subsidiaries 6 106 97

Other receivables 2 2

Cash and cash equivalents 7 19 21

Taxation — 1

Total assets 135 129

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 128 123

Stated capital 8 27 27

Retained earnings 101 96

Current liabilities 7 6

Amounts owing to subsidiaries 5 5

Other payables 2 1

Total equity and liabilities 135 129
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Rm’s Note
Stated
capital

Retained
earnings Total

Balance at 30 June 2005 27 92 119

Profi t for the year 122 122

Dividends paid 10 (118) (118)

Balance at 30 June 2005 27 96 123

Profi t for the year 102 102

Dividends paid 10 (97) (97)

Balance at 30 June 2007 27 101 128
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2007 2006

Note Rm’s Rm’s

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers — 1

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1) (1)

Cash generated from operations 9 (1) —

Management fees received 3 2

Dividends received 112 133

Dividends paid 10 (97) (118)

Taxation paid 11 (10) (8)

Net cash fl ows from operating activities 7 9

Cash fl ows from investing activities — —

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Increase in amounts owing by subsidiaries (9) (33)

Net cash fl ows utilised by fi nancing activities (9) (33)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents for the year (2) (24)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 21 45

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 19 21

Company cash flow statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Notes to the company financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006

Rm’s Rm’s

1. REVENUE

Total revenue comprises:

Dividend income 112 133

112 133

2. DIVIDEND INCOME

Unlisted

Dividend income from subsidiaries 110 130

Dividend income from other sources 2 3

112 133

3. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

 Profi t before taxation is stated after taking into account the following items:

Auditors’ remuneration

– Audit fee* — —

– Taxation assurance, other services* — —

– Expenses* — —

*Less than R1 million.

— —

4. TAXATION

Current taxation

– Normal tax 1 (1)

– Deferred tax — 1

– Secondary tax on companies 10 12

11 12

Reconciliation of tax rate % %

Standard tax rate – South Africa 29,0 29,0

Adjusted for:

Exempt income (28,7) (28,8)

Other permanent differences 0,6 (0,2)

Secondary tax on companies 8,8 9,0

Effective tax rate 9,7 9,0

5. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares at cost 8 8

A list of subsidiaries appears on page 63.
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2007 2006

Rm’s Rm’s

6. AMOUNTS OWING BY SUBSIDIARIES

 These amounts represent amounts owing by Italtile Ceramics Limited. 
These amounts are unsecured, carry no interest and there are no 
fi xed terms of repayment. Outstanding balances are settled from time to 
time based on the cash fl ow requirements of the various entities. 106 97

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand 1 3

Short-term investments 18 18

19 21

8. STATED CAPITAL

Authorised

75 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

Issued

 18 677 283 (2006: 18 677 283) ordinary shares of no par value 27 27

 All unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the 
next annual general meeting.

9.  RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO 
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Profi t before taxation 113 134

Adjusted for:

  Dividends received (112) (133)

  Management fee received (3) (2)

  Working capital changes

    Decrease in other receivables — 1

    Increase in other payables 1 —

  Cash generated from operations (1) —

10. DIVIDENDS PAID

Charged per statement of changes in equity (97) (118)

Amounts paid (97) (118)

11. TAXATION PAID

Amounts prepaid at beginning of year 1 4

Charged per income statement (11) (12)

Deferred tax expense — 1

Amounts prepaid at end of year — (1)

Amounts paid (10) (8)
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12. BORROWING CAPACITY

In terms of the Articles of Association, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited.

13. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Foreign currency management

 It is the Company’s policy to enter into foreign exchange contracts to cover all foreign denominated transactions 
for which no letter of credit has been issued. No forward exchange contracts existed at 30 June 2007.

Credit risk management

The Company only deposits cash surpluses with major banks of high-quality credit standing.

Liquidity risk

 The Company has cash and cash equivalents of R19 million (2006: R21 million), and no credit facilities. 

14. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 The Company owns 100% of the issued share capital of Italtile Ceramics Limited and receives dividends and 
management fees from its subsidiary.

 All related-party transactions are concluded at arm’s length. Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured, 
interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related- 
party receivables or payables. For the year ended 30 June 2007, the Company has not made any provision for 
doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2006: nil). This assessment is undertaken each 
fi nancial year through examining the fi nancial position of the related party and the market in which the related 
party operates.

Details of related-party transactions are as follows:

Aggregate value
of transactions

Balance owing
at year-end

Related party Nature of transactions 2007
Rm’s

2006
Rm’s

2007
Rm’s

2006
Rm’s

Italtile Ceramics Limited Dividends and management fees 113 132 101 92

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Share split

A special resolution was approved by the requisite majority on 12 July 2007 to give effect to a 44:1 subdivision 
of the Company’s share capital to enhance the tradability of the shares in issue. At the date of these fi nancial 
statements, the special resolution had not yet been registered by the relevant government agency. Accordingly, 
all the share-related information in these fi nancial statements makes reference to actual numbers of shares in 
issue prior to the approved subdivision of shares.

Notes to the company financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Book value of interest

% held Shares
Amounts
owing to

Issued share

capital 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

R Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s Rm’s

Held by Italtile Limited

RETAILING

Italtile Ceramics Limited 36 383 618 100 100 1 1 101 92

Issued share
capital

Effective %
shareholding

2007 2006 2007 2006

R R

Held by subsidiaries

FRANCHISING

Italtile Franchising (Pty) Limited 1 000 1 000 100 100

Italtile Mauritius (Pty) Limited## 1 589 1 589 100 100

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

F.B. Ashman (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100

Allmuss Properties (Pty) Limited 1 500 1 500 100 100

Allmuss Botswana (Pty) Limited### 4 651 4 651 100 100

Allmuss Properties Namibia (Pty) Limited #### 100 100 100 100

SUPPORT SERVICES

Cladding Finance (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100

RETAILING

Italtile Australia (Pty) Limited# 57 072 821 57 072 821 70,1 70,8

International Tap Distributors (Pty) Limited 200 200 59 59

Earlyworks 191 (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 60

Penates Logistics (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100

#Incorporated in Australia.
##Incorporated in Mauritius.

###Incorporated in Botswana.
####Incorporated in Namibia.

Subsidiaries
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Analysis of shareholders

Category of Number of Number of Shares held

shareholder shareholders shares held %

The Italtile Provident Fund 1 8 200 0,1

The Italtile Share Incentive Trust 1 555 502 3,0

Individuals 357 1 157 684 6,2

Nominee shareholders 90 1 114 290 6,0

Companies and other corporate bodies 140 3 657 385 19,6

Directors 5 914 878 4,9

Associates to directors 5 11 269 344 60,2

Totals 599 18 677 283 100,0

Concentration of holdings – Number of Number of Shares held

number of shares shareholders shares held %

 1 – 5 000 537 365 616 2,0

 5 001 – 20 000 29 315 163 1,7

 20 001 – 100 000 14 577 704 3,1

 100 001 –  1 000 000 17 5 113 796 27,4

   Over 1 000 000 2 12 305 004 65,8

Totals 599 18 677 283 100,0
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Shareholders’ spread
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Category of Number of Number of Shares held

shareholder shareholders shares held %

Directors 5 914 878 4,9

Associates of directors 5 11 269 344 60,2

The Italtile Share Incentive Trust 1 555 502 3,0

The Italtile Provident Fund 1 8 200 0,1

Other persons interested in 10% or more 
of the issued share capital 2 2 092 312 11,2

Total non-public shareholders 14 14 840 236 79,4

Public shareholders 585 3 837 047 20,6

Totals 599 18 677 283 100,0

Number of 
% interest

in the issued 

Major shareholders shares held share capital

Rallen (Pty) Limited 10 583 763 56,7

Old Mutual Group 2 397 374 12,8

Tommaso Altini Trust 638 098 3,4

Italtile Share Incentive Trust 555 502 3,0

14 174 737 75,9
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Branch addresses

ITALTILE AND CTM 
BRANCH ADDRESSES

ITALTILE

Italtile Group Owned 
and Joint Venture 
Stores

SOUTH AFRICA

Bryanston, Johannesburg

Corner William Nicol Drive
and Peter Place
Bryanston 2021

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 510-9000
Fax: (011) 510-9019

Menlyn, Pretoria

Adjacent to Menlyn Park
Shopping Centre
38 Palala Road
Ashlea Gardens
Pretoria

PO Box 35232
Menlo Park 0102

Tel: (012) 348-8700/1/2
Fax: (012) 348-3429

Port Elizabeth

Corner Roshan Street and
N2 Freeway, Framesby
Port Elizabeth

PO Box 10973
Linton Grange 6025

Tel: (041) 360-4460
Fax: (041) 360-4470

Umhlanga

7 Tetford Crescent
Umhlanga Ridge
Umhlanga

PO Box 2474
Mount Edgecombe
Country Club 4301

Tel: (031) 566-5069
Fax: (031) 566-5090

Italtile Franchise 
Stores South Africa

FRANCHISE

Montague Gardens
Cape Town

Cnr Koeberg and Omuramba 
Roads, Montague Gardens
Cape Town

PO Box 713
Somerset West 7129

Tel: (021) 552-2101
Fax: (021) 552-2106

Nelspruit

18 Rapid Street
Riverside Industrial Park
Nelspruit 1200

PO Box 13040, Nelspruit 1200

Tel: (013) 752-8333
Fax: (013) 753-3362

Somerset West

Corner N2 and R44 next to
Somerset Mall
Somerset West

P/Bag X15, Postnet Suite 174
Somerset West 7129

Tel: (021) 851-2170
Fax: (021) 852-7790

CTM Group Owned and 
Joint Venture Stores

SOUTH AFRICA

Alberton

Dion Centre, St Austall Road
New Redruth

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 869-0070
Fax: (011) 869-0084

Bloemfontein

Curie Avenue, Showgate
Bloemfontein 9300

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (051) 430-4967
Fax: (051) 447-7532

Boksburg

Corner Northrand and
Trichardt Streets
Boksburg 1459

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 918-5858
Fax: (011) 894-3782

Botshabelo

No. 1 Blue Street
Industrial Area
Botshabelo 9781

Tel: (051) 534-8899
Fax: (051) 534-8991

Brackenfell

Paradys Street
Brackenfell 7560

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (021) 981-4576
Fax: (021) 981-6750

Centurion

Highway Business Park
Old Johannesburg Road
Rooihuiskraal
Centurion 0157

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (012) 661-2196/7/8/9
Fax: (012) 661-2195

Dobsonville

301 Roodepoort Road
Mmesi Park
Dobsonville,1863

PO Box 1689, Randburg, 2125

Tel: (011) 988-6789
Fax: (011) 988-6726

Durban

41B Intersite Avenue
Umgeni Business Park
Springfield

PO Box 40571, Red Hill 4071

Tel: (031) 263-1470/2/3
Fax: (031) 263-1475

East London

Corner Main and
Fitchett Streets
Amalinda
East London

PO Box 12836, Amalinda
East London 5252

Tel: (043) 741-1360
Fax: (043) 741-136

Empangeni

Corner John Ross and
Tanner Road
Empangeni, 3880

PO Box 489, Empangeni 3880

Tel: (035) 772-5250/1
Fax: (035) 772-5253

Ladysmith

83 Murchison Street
Ladysmith, 3370

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (036) 631-0056/7
Fax: (036) 631-1619

Lenasia

Main Lawley Road, Lenasia

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 857-1232/1249
Fax: (011) 857-1556

Lonehill

152 Capricorn Road
Paulshof 2062

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 467-6357/8/9
Fax: (011) 467-6362

Menlyn, Pretoria

Adjacent to Menlyn Park
Shopping Centre
38 Palala Road
Ashlea Gardens
Pretoria

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (012) 365-3070/1/2
Fax: (012) 365-3080/
086-5187947

Montague Gardens

Koeberg Road
Montague Gardens 7945

PO Box 1179, Milnerton, 7435

Tel: (021) 552-2999
Fax: (021) 552-3049

Montana

Corner Taaifontein and
Caliandra Roads
Montana Park
Pretoria

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (012) 548-3555
Fax: (012) 548-4009
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Paarl

Corner Textile and
Lady Grey Streets
Paarl, 7646

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (021) 871-1902/3/4
Fax: (021) 871-1907

Potchefstroom

Corner of
Nelson Mandela Drive and 
Landros Steyn Streets
Potch Industria

PO Box 1660
Potchefstroom 2520

Tel: (018) 294-3011/12
Fax: (018) 294-3013

Pretoria

Corner Michael Brink Street 
and Hendrik Verwoerd Drive
Innesdale
Pretoria

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (012) 335-3308
Fax: (012) 335-3323

Prospecton

2 B Prospecton Road
Prospecton
Durban

PO Box 26311
 Isipingo Beach 4115

Tel: (031) 902-9230
Fax: (031) 902-9234

Route 24 (Edenvale)

69 Herman Street
Meadowdale

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 453-0320/3
Fax: (011) 453-7443

Southgate

Rifle Range Road
Next to Southgate Mall
Southgate

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 494-4496
Fax: (011) 494-5000

Springs

3 Lead Street, New Era
Springs

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 817-1336
Fax: (011) 813-3922

Strijdompark

1 Arbeid Street, Strijdompark

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 792-4136
Fax: (011) 792-4138

Tembisa

1, Erf 4859, Isimuku Street
Birch Acres Ext
Tembisa

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 253-7011
Fax: 086 508 1640

Trichardt

12 Paul Kruger Street
Trichardt, 2300

PO Box 6985, Secunda 2302

Tel: (017) 638-0403/4
Fax: (017) 638-0445

Umhlanga

7 Tetford Crescent
Umhlanga Ridge
Durban

PO Box 2474
Mount Edgecombe
Country Club, 4301

Tel: (031) 566-3340
Fax: (031) 566-3341

Vaal (previously 
Vereeniging)

Corner Johannesburg & 
Leeuwenhoek Street
Duncanville

PO Box 2317
Vereeniging 1930

Tel: 0861 286 8225/
(016) 422-7356
Fax: (016) 422-7350/54

Vanderbijlpark

Rabie Street, CE6
Vanderbijlpark

PO Box 1120
Vereeniging 1930

Tel: (016) 933-1951/2
Fax: (016) 933-1955

Vredenburg

20 Saldanha Road
Vredenburg

PO Box 1318
Vredenburg 7380

Tel: (022) 715-1180/1/2
Fax: (022) 715-1105

Westgate

Corner C R Swart and
Ontdekkers Roads
Wilropark

PO Box 1689, Randburg 2125

Tel: (011) 768-5758/0416/7
Fax: (011) 768-1969

Worcester

10 Park Close
Worcester 6850

PO Box 767, Worcester 6849

Tel: (023) 347-4869
Fax: (023) 342-4808

CTM Franchise 
Stores

SOUTH AFRICA

Bethlehem

Mullerstraat Oos 19
Hospitaalheuwel
Bethlehem 9701

PO Box 2638
Bethlehem 9700

Tel: (058) 303-0065/6
Fax: (058) 303-8517

Brits

Hendrik Verwoerd Avenue
Brits 0250
Postnet Suite 160
Private Bag x0001
Ifafi, 0260

Tel: (012) 250-3034/66
Fax: (012) 250-2991/
086 508 1655

Burgersfort

281 Katania Street
Burgersfort 1150

PO Box 3171, Nelspruit 1200

Tel: (013) 231-7968
Fax: (013) 231-7687

George

Corner Knysna Road and
Fourth Street
George East 6529

PO Box 9471, George, 6530

Tel: (044) 871-1021/2
Fax: (044) 871-1048

Groblersdal

09 Eind Street c/o
Van Riebeck & Canal

PO Box 1641
Groblersdal 0470

Tel: (013) 262-5416
Fax: (013) 262-3976

Hermanus

Corner Skulphoek and
Adam Road, Sandbaai
Hermanus

PO Box 1622, Sandbaai
Hermanus 7200

Tel: (028) 313-1199
Fax: (028) 313-2928

Kimberley

1-2 North Circular Road 
(Corner of Pniel Road no 5)
Kimberley 8301

PO Box 194, Kimberley 8301

Tel: (053) 831-4230
Fax: (053) 831-4232

Klerksdorp

Corner Main Reef Road
and Park Street
Klerksdorp, 2571

PO Box 966, Klerksdorp 2570

Tel: (018) 464-1222/1999
Fax: (018) 462-2729

Louis Trichardt

Shop No. 55
Main Road, Eltivillas
Louis Trichardt

PO Box 4200
Louis Trichardt 0920

Tel: (015) 516-2779/0279
Fax: (015) 516-2777
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Branch addresses continued

Mafikeng

Corner Nelson Mandela Drive 
and 1st Avenue
Industrial Sites
Mafikeng 2745

PO Box 23274, Mafikeng 2745

Tel: (018) 381-1073/0509
Fax: (018) 381-0504

Middelburg (Mpumalanga)

No 1 Meyer Street
Middelburg

PO Box 830, Middelburg 1050

Tel: (013) 282-2420/30
Fax: (013) 282-2425

Mokopane (Potgietersrus)

43 Thabo Mbeki Street
Potgietersrus
Mokopane

PO Box 4749
Mokopane 0600

Tel: (015) 491-1368
Fax: (015) 491-3912

Mossel Bay

8 Bolton Road, Voorbaai
Mossel Bay

PO Box 2058
Mossel Bay 6500

Tel: (044) 695 2248
Fax: (044) 695-0284

Mthatha (Umtata)

73 Nelson Mandela Drive
Umtata

PO Box 52550, Umtata 5099

Tel: (047) 532-6850
Fax: (047) 532-6868

Nelspruit

18 Rapid Street
Riverside Industrial Park
Nelspruit 1200
PO Box 3171, Nelspruit 1200

Tel: (013) 755 2006
Fax: (013) 755 1434

Newcastle

81 Scott Street
Newcastle

PO Box 20543
Newcastle 2940

Tel: (034) 315-5145/6
Fax: (034) 315-5147

Phuthaditjhaba

Factory 115, Mohale Street
Industrial Area No. 2
Phuthaditjhaba

Tel : (058) 713-6183/93
Fax:058-7136178

Pietermaritzburg

116 Victoria Road
Pietermaritzburg 3201

Tel: (033) 342-9701
Fax: (033) 342-7330

Pinetown

56 Old Main Road
Pinetown

PO Box 1924, Westville 3630

Tel: (031) 702-3701
Fax: (031) 702-3706

Plettenberg Bay

Theron Street
Plettenberg Bay
Industrial Area

PO Box 1931
Plettenberg Bay 6600

Tel: (044) 533-5829
Fax: (044) 533-5916

Polokwane (Pietersburg)

64 Hoof Street, Superbia
Polokwane

PO Box 31281, Superbia 0759

Tel: (015) 292-0001/5
Fax: (015) 292-1529

Port Elizabeth

1 Archie Close
Corner Chase Drive and 
Keeton StreetYoung Park
Port Elizabeth

PO Box 3788, Northend 6056

Tel: (041) 456-4691
Fax: (041) 456-4683

Port Shepstone
(South Coast)

1 Oscar Nero Road, Marburg
Port Shepstone

PO Box 2533
Port Shepstone 4240

Tel: (039) 682-1601
Fax: (039) 682-1762

Queenstown

123 Cathcart Road
Queenstown 5719

PO Box 473
Queenstown 5320

Tel: (045) 838-5376/7/8
Fax: (045) 838-5011

Rustenburg

115 Leyds Street
Postnet Suite 4529

Private Bag X 82323
Rustenburg 0030

Tel: (014) 597-2701
Fax: (014) 597-3056
Somerset West

Somerset West

Business Park, Delson Circle
Somerset West

PO Box 713
Somerset West 7129

Tel: (021) 851-7110
Fax: (021) 851-7117

Thohoyandou

102 Main Street
Thohoyandou 0950

PO Box 1700, Sibasa 0970

Tel: (015) 962-5401
Fax: (015) 962-5462

Tokai

Corner Vans and Tokai Roads
Tokai 7945

Tel: (021) 715-8506
Fax: (021) 715-8569

Tzaneen

Corner Sapekoe Avenue and
Claude Wheadly Drive
Tzaneen

PO Box 1297, Tzaneen 0850

Tel: (015) 307-4039/44
Fax: (015) 307-4049

Upington

Corner Le Roux and
Swartmodder Streets
Upington 8801

PO Box 1735, Upington 8800

Tel: (054) 331-2577/79
Fax: (054) 331-2575

Vryburg

Corner Stella and
Moffat Streets
Vryburg

PO Box 1093, Vryburg 8600

Tel: (053) 927-6875/3591
Fax: (053) 927-6876

Welkom

Corner Koppie Alleen and
Constantia Roads

PO Box 98, Welkom 9460

Tel: (057) 396-3371/2/3
Fax: (057) 396-4818

Witbank

No. 2 Vanderbijl Street
Witbank

PO Box 13150
Leraatsfontein 1035

Tel: (013) 690-2874/6
Fax: (013) 690-2878

NAMIBIA

Oshakati

Stand 5004, Main Road

PO Box 3044, Oshakati
Namibia

Tel: 00264 6522 4581
Fax: 002646 522 4518

Swakopmund

Moses-Garoeb Street
Swakopmund

PO Box 2196, Swakopmund
Namibia

Tel: 00264 644 64148
Fax: 00264 644 64124

Windhoek

No. 3 Krupp Street
Southern Industria
Windhoek

PO Box 40480
Ausspannplatz Windhoek
Namibia

Tel: 00264 612 55318
Fax: 00264 612 55320
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LESOTHO

Maseru

DS Building
Moshoeshoe Road
Industrial Area, Maseru
Lesotho

Private Bag A248, Maseru
Lesotho 0100

Tel: 00266 22 327-457
Fax: 00266 22 327 458

MALAWI

Blantyre

Northgate Centre
M. Chipembery Highway

PO Box 445, Blantyre, Malawi

Tel: 00265 1872186
Fax: 00265 187 2461

Lilongwe

Accord Centre
cnr Mzimba and Chilambula 
Roads, Road Area 4

PO Box 30209, Capital City
Lilongwe 3, Malawi

Tel: 00265 175 7993
Fax: 00265 175 7990

UGANDA

Plot 171/177, 6th Street
Industrial Area
Kampala

PO Box 25202, Kampala
Uganda

Tel: 00256 312 261 888
Fax: 00256 312 261 889

SWAZILAND

Matsapha

No. 3 King Maswati III Avenue
Matsapha
Swaziland

PO Box 1095, Matsapha
Swaziland

Tel: 00268 518 4061
Fax: 00268 518 4048

Mbabane

Plot 940, Mshini Road
Sidwashini, Mbabane

PO Box 1095, Matsapha
Swaziland

Tel: 00268 422 1720
Fax: 00268 422 1721

BOTSWANA

Francistown

Plot 31248
Somerset Industrial
Francistown

PO Box 1285, Francistown
Botswana

Tel: 00267 241 5590
Fax: 00267 244 0065

Gaborone

Plot 53609, Unit 5, Gaborone
West Industria
Botswana

PO Box 25033
Gaborone Botswana

Tel: 00267 393 3770
Fax: 00267 393 3771

Palapye

Plot 304, New Industrial Sites 
Palapye

PO Box 1285, Francistown
Botswana

Tel: 00267 490 0430
Fax: 00267 490 0429

TANZANIA

Arusha – CTM (EA) LTD

Shop 6A – TFA Shopping 
Complex

PO Box 10802, Arusha
Tanzania

Tel: 00255 27 254 8015
Fax: 00255 27 254 8145

Dar es Salaam Airport 
(Main) Store – CTM (EA) LTD

Plot 115, Nyerere Road
PO Box 79085
Dar es Salaam
Tanzania

Tel: 00255 22 286 3916
Fax: 00255 22 286 5692

Dar es Salaam (Mwenge 
Store) – CTM (EA) LTD

Plot 109, Mikocheni Light
Industrial Area

PO Box 79085
Dar es Salaam
Tanzania

Tel: 00255 22 270 0602
Fax: 00255 22 286 5692

AUSTRALIA

Sydney – New South 
Wales

CTM Beresfield

2 Birraba Avenue, Beresfield
NSW2322

Tel: 00612 4966-0166
Fax: 00612 4966-0677

CTM Blacktown

Shop 8 & 9 Homebase 
Shopping Center
19 Stoddart Road, Prospect
NSW 2148

Tel: 00612 9688-4528
Fax: 00612 9688-4918

CTM Brookvale

734 – 736 Pittwater Road
Brookvale
NSW 2100

Tel: 00612 9939-3090
Fax: 00612 9939-3313

CTM West Gosford

297 Manns Road
West Gosford
NSW 2250

Tel: 00612 4322-8377
Fax: 00612 4322-8399

CTM Lansvale

286 Hume Highway, Lansvale
NSW 2166

Tel: 00612 9724-0141
Fax: 00612 9724-5219

Brisbane – Queensland

CTM Canon Hill

1881 Creek Road
Canon Hill
QLD 4170

Tel: 00617 3395-6774
Fax: 00617 3395-8661

CTM Springwood

3439 Pacific Highway
Slacks Creek
QLD 4127

Tel: 00617 3208-3472
Fax: 00617 3208-2918

CTM Strathpine

114 Gympie Road
Strathpine
QLD 4500

Tel: 00617 3889-8666
Fax: 00617 3889-8142
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Administration and offices

ITALTILE LIMITED

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Listed on the JSE Limited

Registration number 1955/000558/06

JSE share ITE

ISIN code ZAE000003679

Company Secretary Routledge Modise Moss Morris

Registered offi ce The Italtile Building

 Cnr William Nicol Drive and 

 Peter Place

 Bryanston, 2021

Postal address PO Box 1689, Randburg, 2125

Telephone number +27 (0) 11 510-9050

Fax number +27 (0) 11 510-9061

Transfer secretaries Computershare Investor 

  Services 2004 

(Proprietary) Limited

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg, 2001

Sponsor Nedbank Corporate

Legal advisors  Derek H Rabin & Associates 

(Pty) Limited and 

Routledge Modise Moss Morris

Bankers Nedbank Limited

Auditors Ernst & Young Inc.

Website http//www.Italtile.com
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Shareholders’ diary

Financial year-end  June

Annual general meeting  December

Reports

Interim half-year to December  February

Preliminary profi t announcement  August

Annual fi nancial statements  September

Dividends

Interim dividend Declared February

 Paid March

Final dividend Declared August

 Paid September
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Notice is hereby given that the 19th annual general 

meeting of shareholders of Italtile will be held in the 

Boardroom, the Italtile Building, corner William Nicol 

Drive and Peter Place, Bryanston, on Friday, 

30 November 2007 at 10:00 for the following purposes:

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial 

statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 of the 

Company and the Group, together with the report of 

the auditors.

2.  To re-elect P D Swatton as a director who is retiring 

by rotation in terms of the Articles of Association 

and being eligible offers himself for re-election.

3.   To re-elect D H Rabin as a director who is retiring by 

rotation in terms of the Articles of Association and 

being eligible offers himself for re-election.

A brief curriculum vitae in respect of each director 

standing for re-election appears on page 24 of the 

annual report to which this notice of annual general 

meeting is attached.

4.  To re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the 

Company to hold office for the ensuing year until 

the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

5.  To authorise the directors to fix the remuneration of 

the auditors.

6.  That all the authorised but unissued ordinary shares 

in the capital of the Company, be and are hereby 

placed at the disposal and under the control of the 

directors, and that the directors be and are hereby 

authorised to allot, issue and otherwise to dispose 

of all or any such shares at their discretion, in terms 

of and subject to the provisions of the Companies 

Act, 1973 (Act No 61 of 1973), as amended and the 

Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.

7.  To transact any other business which may be 

transacted at an annual general meeting.

VOTING

Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the 

annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or 

more proxies (who need not be shareholders of the 

Company) to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. 

PROXIES

Only shareholders who hold certificated shares in their 

own name and shareholders who have dematerialised 

their shares with “own name” registration may appoint 

a proxy.  A form of proxy in which is set out the relevant 

instruction for its completion, is attached for use by 

such shareholders of the Company who wish to appoint 

a proxy.  The instrument appointing a proxy and the 

authority, if any, and under which it is signed must be 

received by the Company or its registrars at the 

addresses given below by no later than 10:00 on 

28 November 2007.

All beneficial owners of shares who have dematerialised 

their shares through a central securities depository 

participant (“CSDP”) or broker, other than those 

shareholders who have dematerialised with “own name” 

registration and all beneficial owners of shares who hold 

certificated shares through a nominee, must provide their 

CSDP, broker or nominee with their voting instructions.

Voting instructions must reach the CSDP, broker or 

nominee in sufficient time and in accordance with the 

agreement between the beneficial owner and the CSDP, 

broker or nominee (as the case may be) to allow the 

CSDP, broker or nominee to carry out the instructions.

Should such beneficial owner, however, wish to attend 

the meeting in person, may do so by requesting CSDP, 

broker or nominee to issue him/her with the appropriate 

authority in terms of the agreement entered into 

between the beneficial owner and the CSDP, broker or 

nominee (as the case may be) and, if applicable, lodge 

the requisite authority with the Company or its registrars 

at the addresses given below by not later than 10:00 on 

Wednesday, 28 November 2007.

By order of the Board.

Routledge Modise

Company Secretary

Johannesburg

18 September 2007

Business address and registered offi ce:

Italtile Building, corner William Nicol Drive 

and Peter Place, Bryanston

(PO Box 1689, Randburg, 2195).

Registrars

Computershare Investor Services 2004 

(Proprietary) Limited

70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Italtile Limited
(Registration number 1955/000558/06)
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 
ISIN code: ZAE000003679  Share code: ITE  
(“Italtile” or “the Company”)

Notice to shareholders
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Italtile Limited

FORM OF PROXY

ONLY TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS 

WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION

For use at the annual general meeting to be held at 10:00 on Friday, 30 November 2007 at Italtile Building, 

corner William Nicol Drive and Peter Place, Bryanston.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, 

vote and speak in his/her/its stead at the annual general meeting.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

I/We

(Name in block letters)

of (address) 

being a member(s) of the Company, and entitled to votes do hereby appoint

of or, failing him/her

of or, failing him/her

the chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to represent me/us at the annual general meeting, which 

will be held at Italtile Building, Corner William Nicol Drive and Peter Place, Bryanston, for the purpose of considering and, 

if deemed fit passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment or 

postponement thereof, and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the shares 

in the issued share capital of the Company registered in my/our name (see note 2 overleaf), as follows:

For Against Abstain

1. The adoption of the Group annual financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2007

2. The re-election of P D Swatton

3. The re-election of D H Rabin

4. Reappointment of Ernst & Young Inc. as auditors

5. Authorise the directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration

6. To place the unissued shares of the Company under the 
control of the directors

and generally to act as my/our proxy at the said annual general meeting.  (Indicate with an “X” or the relevant number 

of votes, in the applicable space, how you wish your votes to be cast.  If no directions are given, the proxy holder will be 

entitled to vote or to abstain from voting as that proxy holder deems fit.)

Signed at on 2007

Signature of member(s) Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 
(Registration number 1955/000558/06)
JSE code: ITE  ISIN code: ZAE000003679
(“Italtile” or “the Company”)
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NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY

1.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of his/her choice in the 

space(s) provided, with or without deleting  “chairperson of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion 

or insertion must be initialled by the shareholder.  Any insertion or deletion not complying with the aforegoing will 

be declared not to have been validly effected.  The person whose name stands first on the proxy form and who is 

present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.  

In the event that no names are indicated, the proxy shall be exercised by the chairperson of the annual general 

meeting.

2.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the relevant number of 

votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided.  An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the 

maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder.  Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to 

authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of 

all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.  

A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy, 

but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the maximum number 

of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.

3.  To be effective, completed proxy forms must be lodged with the Company’s registrars or at the registered office of 

the Company not less than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) before the time appointed 

for the holding of the annual general meeting.  As the annual general meeting is to be held at 09:30 on 1 December 

2006, proxy forms must be lodged on or before 10:00 on 28 November 2007.

4.  The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the relevant shareholder attending the annual 

general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

5.  The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed and/or 

received other than in compliance with these notes.

6.  Any alteration to this proxy form, other than a deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatories.

7.   Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative or other 

legal capacity must be attached to this proxy form unless previously recorded by the Company or its registrars or 

waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

8.  Where there are joint holders of shares:

 8.1 any one holder may sign the proxy form; and

 8.2  the vote of the senior shareholder (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the 

names of the shareholders appear in the Company’s register) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by 

proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholders.
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